
 
 

AGENDA 
SPECIAL BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING 

JORDAN ROOM, MATTHEWS TOWN HALL 
MAY 23, 2016 – 5:30 PM 

 
The Board of Commissioners will meet with staff to review the proposed fiscal year 2016-17 budget. 
 
 

AGENDA 
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING 
HOOD ROOM, MATTHEWS TOWN HALL 

MAY 23, 2016 - 7:00 PM 
 

 
1. Regular Meeting Called to Order 

 
2. Invocation 

 
3. Pledge of Allegiance 
 
4. Items to be Added to the Agenda 
 
5. Fire & EMS Scholarship Recognition 
  
6. Public Comment (Please sign in to speak at this time. Limited to 4 minutes.) 

 
7. Consent Agenda 
 

A. Approve Minutes of the May 9, 2016 Board of Commissioners Meeting 

B. Approve Minutes of the May 9, 2016 Closed Session Board of Commissioners Meeting 

C. Cancel July 25, 2016 Board of Commissioners Meeting 

D. Approve Disposal of Surplus Property 

E. Approve Charlotte Water Easement Abandonment 

F. Approve Budget Amendments to Recognize: 

1) Court-Ordered Restitution Payments and Funds in Excess of Budgeted Revenues in the 

Amount of $482.50 

2) Donation to the DARE Program in Excess of Budgeted Revenues in the Amount of 

$1,475.00 

 

8. Unfinished Business 

A. Approve Contract for Solid Waste Services 

B. Consider Technology Upgrades to Hood Room  

C. Receive Update on 2016 Planning Conference To Do List 

 

 



 

9. New Business 

A. Receive Monthly Budget Report 

B. Enter into Agreement with Partners for Parks 

 
10. Mayor’s Report 

 
11. Attorney’s Report 

 
12. Town Manager’s Report 

 
13. Adjournment 

 



 
 

MINUTES 
SPECIAL BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING 

JORDAN ROOM, MATTHEWS TOWN HALL 
MAY 9, 2016 – 5:30 PM 

 
PRESENT: Mayor James Taylor; Mayor Pro Tem John Higdon; Commissioners Chris Melton, Jeff Miller, 

John Urban and Larry Whitley; Town Manager Hazen Blodgett, Assistant Town Manager Becky 
Hawke; Communications Director Jen Thompson; Town Clerk Lori Canapinno 

 
ABSENT: Commissioner John Ross 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Finance Director Chris Tucker; Planning and Development Director Kathi Ingrish; Parks, 

Recreation and Cultural Resources Director Corey King; Fire & EMS Chief Dennis Green; Police 
Chief Rob Hunter; Public Works Director CJ O’Neill 

 
The Board of Commissioners met with staff to receive the proposed budget for fiscal year 2016-17. (Exhibit #1 

hereby referenced and made a part of these minutes) 

      
 

MINUTES 
SPECIAL BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING 

CLOSED SESSION 
JORDAN ROOM, MATTHEWS TOWN HALL 

MAY 9, 2016 – 6:30 PM 
 
 

PRESENT: Mayor James Taylor; Mayor Pro Tem John Higdon; Commissioners Chris Melton, Jeff Miller, 
John Ross, John Urban and Larry Whitley; Town Attorney Charles Buckley; Town Manager 
Hazen Blodgett, Town Clerk Lori Canapinno 

 
ABSENT: Commissioner John Ross 
 

 
Motion by Mr. Miller to enter into closed session to meet on matters relating to attorney-client privilege pursuant to 
North Carolina General Statue 143.318.11(a)(3), to include the Mayor, Board, Town Attorney, Town Manager and 
Town Clerk. The motion was seconded by Mr. Whitley and unanimously approved.  
 
 
 

MINUTES 
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING 
HOOD ROOM, MATTHEWS TOWN HALL 

MAY 9, 2016 - 7:00 PM 
 

PRESENT: Mayor James Taylor; Mayor Pro Tem John Higdon; Commissioners Chris Melton, Jeff Miller, 
John Urban and Larry Whitley; Town Attorney Charles Buckley; Town Manager Hazen Blodgett; 
Town Clerk Lori Canapinno 

 
ABSENT: Commissioner John Ross 

1 
 



Board of Commissioners 
May 9, 2016 

ALSO PRESENT: Assistant Town Manager Becky Hawke; Communications Director Jen Thompson; Public 
Works Director CJ O’Neill; Parks, Recreation and Cultural Resources Director Corey King; 
Planning and Development Director Kathi Ingrish; Planning Board Chair Steve Lee, Vice Chair 
Barbara Dement, Members Mike Ham, Kerry Lamson, Gregory Lee, Kress Query and David 
Weiser. 

 
REGULAR MEETING CALLED TO ORDER 
 
Mayor Taylor called the meeting to order at 7:03 pm. 
 
 
INVOCATION 
 
Mayor Taylor rendered an invocation.  
 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
Mayor Taylor led the audience in the pledge. 
 
 
ITEMS TO BE ADDED TO THE AGENDA 
 
None 
 
 
RECOGNIZE PUBLIC WORKS WEEK 
 
Mayor Taylor described Public Works employees as the unsung heroes of the town. He presented a proclamation 
recognizing May 15-21 as Public Works Week in the Town of Matthews. 
 
 
PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT BUSINESS 
 
Planning and Development Director Kathi Ingrish introduced members of the Planning Board in attendance: Chair 
Steve Lee, Vice Chair Barbara Dement, Members Mike Ham, Kerry Lamson, Gregory Lee, Kress Query and 
David Weiser. 
 
 
REPORT FROM PLANNING BOARD  
 
Chair Steve Lee reviewed the Planning Board report of the April 26, 2016 meeting. (Exhibit #2 hereby referenced 
and made a part of these minutes).  
 
Mr. Melton noted that the Planning Board recommended denial of the Primrose School application (2016-643) 
and that after the Planning Board meeting the applicants suggested adding a police officer to direct traffic. He 
asked if it was likely that the Planning Board would have recommended approval with safety improvements. Mr. 
Lee said it was possible if traffic flow on Ames Street was minimized.  
 
 
 
 

2 
 



Board of Commissioners 
May 9, 2016 

PLANNING AND ZONING RELATED ACTIONS 
 
Motion 2015-3: Consider the Downtown Streetscape Improvement Plan 
 
Motion by Mr. Miller to defer Motion 2015-3 to June 13, 2016 as the consultant needs a bit more time to prepare 
the final draft. The motion was seconded by Mr. Urban and unanimously approved.  
 
 
Application 2016-643/Primrose School: to change the zoning from I-1 to O(CD) on that certain property 
designated as 720 Park Center Drive and further designated as Tax Parcel 193-243-07 for a proposed 
development of a child daycare facility. 
 
Mayor Taylor noted that the Planning Board had to make a decision based in the information available to them at 
the time of their meeting. They recommended denial but new information arose after that date.  
 
Mr. Whitley said he believes the width of Ames Street at the proposed daycare entrance is sufficient but narrows 
beyond that. He suggested moving the entrance off Ames Street. He is in favor of the application. Mr. Miller said 
the use and location are good but Ames Street is a challenge. He asked for the cost to widen Ames Street a few 
feet. Town Manager Hazen Blodgett explained that the most recent estimate, which is a few years old, lists 
improvements totaling $246,000. That includes curb and gutter. It may not be practical or possible to simply add a 
few feet of paving. Staff can look at other options to see if other options are feasible.  
 
Motion by Mr. Miller to approve application 2016-643 as it is reasonable and consistent with the Land Use Plan 
and because the proposed use is adaptable to that area of development and the area would benefit from a 
daycare there. The motion was seconded by Mr. Whitley. 
 
Mr. Higdon noted that with the existing zoning the property could accommodate up to 30,000 square feet of office 
use and experience even more traffic than the proposed daycare would generate. Also, the daycare would be 
closed in evening hours and weekends. Since the by right zoning would allow something potentially more 
impactful he is in favor of this application.  
 
Mr. Urban thanked the applicants for making certain requested changes. He said he was worried about a negative 
impact on North End and asked if the applicants would be amenable to directing traffic in a certain way to mitigate 
potential traffic issues. He proposed two options, each incorporating one way traffic. Option 1 would have the 
primary traffic entrance to Primrose through the OrthoCarolina entry and directed out through Ames Street. 
Controlling the one way traffic would mitigate confusion in the parking lot. Option 2 would close off the Ames 
Street entrance until Ames Street is widened. His preference would be for no entrance from Ames Street since it 
would be one way. Overall the applicants have worked very hard and he can support the application if they agree 
on the traffic pattern issues.  
 
Applicant representative John Carmichael of Robinson Bradshaw, 101 N. Tryon Street, Charlotte, NC addressed 
the Board. He stated that the first option – one way circulation through the OrthoCarolina entrance and out Ames 
Street – is acceptable to the applicants. They would prefer to keep the head-in parking so as not to lose any 
spaces the way they would with angled parking. They had previously proposed a stipend of up to $10,000 for 
traffic direction by a police or security officer if deemed necessary and the applicants are now willing to increase 
that figure up to $25,000 to be put toward road improvements but not incur the cost of the officer to direct traffic. 
Mr. Carmichael could not state if the second option – close the Ames Street access point until Ames Street is 
widened – would be acceptable since there are cross-access easements already in place. He would have to 
consult with others on that and it may not be possible due to the existing agreement.  
 
Mr. Melton asked about the timing of the potential $10,000 payment for traffic control. Mr. Carmichael confirmed 
that the sum would be available only if the use was the daycare. It would be triggered when it is deemed 

3 
 



Board of Commissioners 
May 9, 2016 

necessary for the efficiency and safety of Park Center Drive and North Ames Street. The note calls for 
determination by the Town after consultation with the Town Engineer. The daycare operator can consult with a 
traffic engineer to engage with the Town Engineer as well. It would essentially be up to the Town.  
 
Mr. Higdon said he was not in favor of blocking off access to North Ames Street. It would be very inconvenient to 
drop kids off and possible increase accidents. He was also concerned about blocking off an entrance that could 
be used for emergency access.  Mr. Carmichael noted that if that access point was cut off they’d have to provide 
some sort of turnaround location for fire trucks. Mayor Taylor suggested the use of a breakaway entrance to solve 
the problem.  
 
Mr. Whitley said he thinks it would be better to enter from Ames Street and exit through the OrthoCarolina 
driveway. It would be a smoother flow with one way traffic in and out. Mr. Urban said BrookeChase – the North 
End landlord and owner – would prefer using the OrthoCarolina access point as the primary entry. It would also 
be better for the residents around there.  
 
Mr. Melton said if the Ames Street access point couldn’t be blocked off then he would like staff to review the costs 
for Ames Street improvements. Mr. Urban said he got information from staff that the previous Public Works 
Director had performed a quick study of this several years ago and estimated that full implementation of 
improvements - including the lumber yard up to Park Center Drive, with full curb and gutter, sidewalks, etc. – 
would cost approximately $400,000.  
 
Motion by Mr. Melton to defer the decision on application 2016-643 to June 13, 2016. The motion was seconded 
by Mr. Urban. Discussion ensued regarding the motion to defer. The motion passed 4-2 with Taylor, Higdon, 
Melton and Urban in favor and Miller and Whitley in opposition.  
   
 
PUBLIC COMMENT  
 
Emory Simmons of the Matthews Chamber of Commerce, 210 Matthews Station Street, Matthews thanked the 
Board for being active in the Chamber and supporting the business community. He invited the Board and 
business public to the Chamber’s upcoming business seminar on May 10 and golf tournament on May 17. Mayor 
Taylor complimented new Executive Director Kelly Barnhardt as being off to a great start and said everyone in the 
Chamber is engaged. The relationship between the Town and Chamber is very valuable.  
 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 

 
A. Approve Minutes April 25, 2016 Regular Meeting 
B. Approve Preliminary Plat for Lake Harmon Estates 
C. Approve Disposal of Surplus Property 
D. Approve Changes to the Storm Water Interlocal Agreement 
E. Consider Temporary Closure of Covenant Church Lane 
F. Approve Tax Refunds 
G. Call for June 13, 2016 Public Hearing on FY 16-17 Budget 
H. Call for June 13, 2016 Public Hearing on Storm Water Fees 
I. Approve Budget Ordinance Amendments to Recognize: 

1) HIDTA Shared Proceeds in the Amount of $4,037.23 
2) Controlled Substance Tax in the Amount of $738.00 

J. Accept Zoning Application 2016-644; M. Todd; 9601 East Independence Boulevard; from 
Conditional to B-1(CD) and Set Public Hearing for July 11, 2016; Accept Zoning Application 2016-
645; Mecklenburg County – Sportsplex; 2425 Sports Parkway and 1585 Tank Town Road; from R-
20 to ENT and Set Public Hearing for June 13, 2016 

4 
 



Board of Commissioners 
May 9, 2016 

Motion by Mr. Whitley to approve consent agenda items A through J. The motion was seconded by Mr. Melton 
and unanimously approved.   
 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
AUTHORIZE STAFF TO PROCEED WITH CONSTRUCTION OF UPSTAIRS AREA OF POLICE DEPARTMENT 
 
Police Chief Rob Hunter explained this had been proposed for inclusion in the CIP for the next fiscal year but 
realized that unspent funds in the current fiscal year could be used instead. The last estimate for the work was 
approximately $150,000 and $200,000 was budgeted for the complete project which would include furnishings 
and equipment.  
 
Motion by Mr. Higdon to authorize staff to proceed with obtaining and presenting for Board approval construction 
bids for this project utilizing current-year budgeted revenues, with the cost not to exceed $200,000. The motion 
was seconded by Mr. Melton and unanimously approved.  
 
 
RECEIVE INFORMATION ON TRANSPARENCY BEST PRACTICES 
 
Town Clerk Lori Canapinno discussed issues relating to government transparency, including recording the Board 
of Commissioners meetings that take place in the Hood Room and the publishing of financial data on the town’s 
website. It was clarified that the written minutes would continue to be the official record of each meeting.  
 
Motion by Mr. Whitley to move forward with the recommendations included in Ms. Canapinno’s memo dated May 
4, 2016. The motion was seconded by Mr. Urban and unanimously approved.  
 
 
CONSIDER CONCEPTUAL PLAN FOR RICE ROAD PARK PHASE ONE 
 
Parks, Recreation and Cultural Resources Director Corey King explained that good feedback on the proposed 
plans had been received. There weren’t many significant changes to the design. Staff believes that phasing will 
be the best method to construct the park and is seeking the Board’s approval to move forward with phase 1. The 
total park cost is estimated at $1.4 million with $400,000 for phase 1. $50,000 is indicated in the proposed FY 16-
17 budget for construction drawings. This project will go through the public bid process so the final costs could be 
lower than estimated.  
 
Motion by Mr. Whitley to approve the phase 1 elements and budget as presented, not to exceed $399,999. The 
motion was seconded by Mr. Higdon and unanimously approved.  
 
 
MAYOR’S REPORT 
 
Mayor Taylor noted the start of BeachFest this weekend as well as the start of the summer concert and movie 
series at Stumptown Park. He also stated that he and Mr. Blodgett will attend the Indian Trail council meeting to 
discuss their participation in The Quad.  
 
 
ATTORNEY’S REPORT 
 
None 
 

5 
 



Board of Commissioners 
May 9, 2016 

TOWN MANAGER’S REPORT 
 
None 
 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
Motion by Mr. Miller to adjourn. The motion was seconded by Mr. Urban and unanimously approved.  The 
meeting adjourned at 8:14 pm.  
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
Lori Canapinno 
Town Clerk 

6 
 



 

 

 
 
GFOA Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting 1998-Present. 

                                   

May 18, 2016 
 
To: Honorable Mayor and Board of Commissioners 
 
From: Christopher Tucker, Finance Director 
 
CC: Hazen Blodgett, Town Manager 
 Becky Hawke, Assistant Town Manager 
 Lori Canapinno, Town Clerk 
 
RE: Declaration of Surplus / Approve for Sale via Electronic Auction or Proper Disposal 
 
 
Background/Issue: 
 
A number of items of surplus property have been identified and are ready for sale or disposal. 
  
 
Proposal/Solution: 
 
Declare surplus and authorize the Finance Director to attempt sale through electronic auction the following 
items: 
 
Miscellaneous Obsolete and/or Non-functioning Computers, Equipment, and Accessories 
Miscellaneous Obsolete and/or Non-functioning Office Furniture and Equipment 
Miscellaneous Obsolete and/or Non-functioning Public Safety Vehicle Accessories 
Miscellaneous Obsolete and/or Non-functioning Bldg. Surveillance Equipment 
Miscellaneous Obsolete Public Safety Uniform Accessories 
  
 
Financial Impact:  
 
Financial resources back to the General Fund 
 
Related Town Goal:  
 
Financial Performance- To provide financial resources in a prudent and responsible manner…  
 
Recommended Motion:   
 
Motion to declare the above items surplus and authorize the Finance Director to attempt sale by electronic 
auction or dispose of properly. 



 

 

Charlotte Water Easement Abandonment 
 
DATE:  May 18, 2016 
TO:  Mayor and Board of Commissioners  
FROM: C.J. O’Neill, PE- Public Works Director 
 
Background/Issue 
 
Charlotte water currently has a sanitary sewer easement (SSE) through the Town’s property adjacent 
to Devore Lane to allow the maintenance of an existing sewer line.  The Pike Nursery project 
currently under development in this area is rerouting a portion of this existing sewer line.  This will 
make a section of the SSE on the Town’s property unnecessary.  Charlotte Water would like to 
abandon this section of the SSE.  Pike Nursery’s contractor will remove any existing sanitary sewer 
from the abandoned SSE. 
 
Fiscal Impact 
 
None 
 
Related Town Goals and Strategies 
 
To plan, allocate resources, and operate all departments effectively and efficiently in order to meet 
the citizens’ needs for local government services. 
 
Recommended Action 
 
To allow Charlotte Water to abandon an unnecessary sanitary sewer easement and allow the Town 
Manager to sign the attached agreement. 
 
attachments 





ORDINANCE NO. _________     BUDGET ORDINANCE AMENDMENT 
 
ORDINANCE AMENDING THE BUDGET FOR THE TOWN OF MATTHEWS, NORTH 
CAROLINA FOR FISCAL YEAR 2015-2016 
 
 BE IT ORDAINED by the Board of Commissioners of the Town of Matthews, 
North Carolina that the following amendments are made to the Budget Ordinance for the 
fiscal year ending June 30, 2016. 
 
 SECTION 1:  To amend the General Fund, the Revenues are to be changed as 
follows: 
        INCREASE DECREASE 
 
10000001-4417 Clerk of Court Fees   $ 247.50 
10000001-4407 Williams Wrecker   $ 235.00 
 
 SECTION 2:  To amend the General Fund, the Expenditures are to be changed 
as follows: 
        INCREASE DECREASE 
 
10431100-5252 Auto Parts-Patrol   $482.50   
     
 

 SECTION 3:  The purpose of this amendment is to recognize court ordered 
restitution payments and funds in excess of budgeted revenues for wrecker contract 
from Williams Wrecker. 
 
 SECTION 4:   Copies of the budget amendment shall be delivered to the Budget 
Officer and the Finance Officer for their direction. 
 
 Adopted this the 23rd day of May 2016.  
 
 
 
 
    
 
 
            
      ______________________________ 
       James P. Taylor, Mayor 
 
 
        
            
      ______________________________ 
       Lori Canapinno, Town Clerk 
 
 
 



ORDINANCE NO. _________     BUDGET ORDINANCE AMENDMENT 
 
ORDINANCE AMENDING THE BUDGET FOR THE TOWN OF MATTHEWS, NORTH 
CAROLINA FOR FISCAL YEAR 2015-2016 
 
 
 
 BE IT ORDAINED by the Board of Commissioners of the Town of Matthews, 
North Carolina that the following amendments are made to the Budget Ordinance for the 
fiscal year ending June 30, 2016. 
 
 
 
 SECTION 1:  To amend the General Fund, the Revenues are to be changed as 
follows: 
        INCREASE DECREASE 
 
10000001-4420  DARE PROGRAM  $1,475.00 
  
 SECTION 2:  To amend the General Fund, the Expenditures are to be changed 
as follows: 
        INCREASE DECREASE 
 
10431400-5231  DARE PROGRAM  $1,475.00 
  

 SECTION 3:  The purpose of this amendment is to recognize donation to the 
DARE program in excess of budgeted revenues. 
 
 SECTION 4:   Copies of the budget amendment shall be delivered to the Budget 
Officer and the Finance Officer for their direction. 
 
 Adopted this the 23rd day of May 2016.  
    
 
            
     ______________________________ 
       James P. Taylor, Mayor 
 
 
        
            
      ______________________________ 
       Lori Canapinno, Town Clerk 
 
 
 



 

 

Solid Waste Contract 
 
DATE:  May 18, 2016 
TO:  Mayor and Board of Commissioners  
FROM: C.J. O’Neill, PE- Public Works Director 
 
Background/Issue 
 
The Town has contracted with Republic Services since 1996.  The current contract is approximately 
$1,690,000 per year for collection and expires June 30, 2016.  Although we are happy with the 
service we have received from Republic, we felt it prudent to see how the current market might lower 
what we pay for collection.   
 
Therefore, in early 2015, in conjunction with the Environmental Advisory Committee (EAC), we 
solicited Statements of Qualifications (SOQ’s) from solid waste contractors interested in serving the 
town of Matthews.  Based on the SOQ’s we sent a Request for Proposals (RFP) to four contractors- 
Advanced Disposal, Republic Services, Waste Management and Waste Pro. 
 
Based on the proposals, at their April 25, 2016 meeting, the Town Board of Commissioners approved 
EAC and Staff’s recommendation to negotiate a new contract with Republic Services based on their 
alternate proposal. 
 
Proposals / Solutions 
 
Attached are two versions of the proposed contracts.  One is based on a 5-year term with an optional 
2-year renewal.  The second is a 7-year term with an optional 2-year renewal.  Either option would 
facilitate pursuing a joint contract with Mint Hill, Indian Trail and/or Waxhaw when their contracts are 
up in approximately 7 years.  The only difference in the two contracts, besides the initial term, is the 
cost for garbage pickup. 
 
The majority of the contract terms are similar to the ones in our current contract.  The major 
differences are the following- 
 

• Since the contractor will now be maintaining the recycling bins, replacement recycling carts will 
no longer be marked with the Town logo. 
 



 

 

• The amount of yard debris that the contractor will pick up has been lowered from 20 bags or 
the 20 minutes per residential unit to 15 bags or 15 minutes per residential unit.  This is in 
response to several properties that continually have large amounts of debris for pickup. 
 

• If we so choose, the contractor will directly bill customers the monthly unit rate for additional 
garbage carts rather than billing the Town.  This should encourage people to limit their waste, 
encourage recycling and reduce costs to the Town. However, this would also require a change 
to our Solid Waste Ordinance.  A request for this change will be brought to the Board at a later 
date. 
 

• At the Town’s discretion, the contractor will add a dumpster and weekly pickup to Squirrel Lake 
Park.  They will also add a second pickup to the dumpster at the Crews Road Recreation 
Center should it be warranted.  There will be no additional charge for this. 
 

• The hours of operation at their call-in center are being extended from 7:00am through 7:00pm 
to 6:30am through 9:00pm on regular collection days. 
 

•  The company will increase or decrease the rates for service based on the CPI-U.  The 
current contract has only the ability to increase the rates based on 95% of the CPI-U.  The 
95% rate was due to having a fuel adjustment in the previous contract. 
 

• The new contract does not have a fuel adjustment.  However, it does ask that the Town 
consider an adjustment if there is a substantial change in fuel prices during the contract period. 
 

• The ranges for liquidated damages for improper roll-out container placement have been 
narrowed based on a recommendation by the EAC.  For instance, in the previous contract, 1 to 
11 issues resulted in a $200 penalty, which increased for greater numbers. With the new 
contract, 1 to 5 issues result in a $200 penalty. 
 

• The contractor will put semi-annual full-page ads in the Matthews-Mint Hill Weekly regarding 
its recycling collection calendar and other pertinent information on our program. 
 

• The contractor currently changes out damaged containers called in by our citizens.  It has 
already expanded this to include changing out containers that its drivers identify as either 
damaged or in poor condition. 

 
 
 



 

 

Fiscal Impact 
 
Based on the rates of the 5-year contract, the Town should save an estimated $309k annually with 
this new contract.  Using the 7-year contract would save the Town an estimated $324k annually over 
the current contract. 
 
Related Town Goals and Strategies 
 
To plan, allocate resources, and operate all departments effectively and efficiently in order to meet 
the citizens’ needs for local government services. 
 
To provide the infrastructure and services that supports the superior quality of life in the Matthews 
community, in a proactive, courteous, and professional manner. 
 
To utilize resources and staff to proactively provide quality public services in an efficient and effective 
manner. 
 
Recommended Action 
 
To contract with Republic Services for hauling waste for the Town of Matthews using the attached 7-
year contract. 
 
attachments 



Sanitation Contract
Cost Summary

Current 5-Year 7-Year
Monthly Cost for Residential Curbside Pickups (9,000)
Cost per household for Residential Garbage Pick up 7.33$                 4.75$                      4.61$                    
Cost per household for Residential Yard Waste Pickup 4.81$                 4.31$                      4.31$                    
Cost per household for Residential Recycling Pickup 2.45$                 2.70$                      2.70$                    
Monthly Cost for Residential Backyard Pickups for Handicap Individuals (60)
Cost per household for Residential Garbage Pickup 7.33$                 5.25$                      5.11$                    
Cost per household for Residential Yard Waste Pickup 4.81$                 4.31$                      4.31$                    
Cost per household for Residential Recycling Pickup 2.45$                 3.20$                      3.20$                    
Monthly Cost for Business Pickups (materials will be brought to curb) (150)
Cost per Business for Garbage Pickup 7.33$                 4.75$                      4.61$                    
Cost per Business for Recycling Pickup 2.45$                 2.70$                      2.70$                    
Monthly Cost for Residential Pickups and Management of White Goods (100)
Cost for approximately 100 Residential curbside White Goods Pickups -$                   -$                        -$                      
Monthly Cost per Apartment Complex Recyclable Pickups (2 complexes)
Cost per Complex (about 12 96 gallon containers per complex) 32.40$                    32.40$                  
Cost per additional 96 gallon container (not used in cost calc)
Cost for 96 gallon containers -$                        -$                      
Cost for containers, collection, and management of garbage and recycling for Town Events (assuming 3 events per year)
Cost per event for event management (collection and management with recycling included) -$                   -$                        -$                      
Monthly Cost for Garbage in Downtown area
Cost of twice per week pick up of 12 small decorative black trash containers in Downtown area. -$                   146.40$                 146.40$               
Cost of twice per week pick up of each additional decorative trash container 12.20$                    12.20$                  
Estimated Annual Cost (less tipping fees) 1,603,828.80$ 1,295,211.60$      1,279,738.80$    
Estimated Annual Savings N/A (308,617.20)$        (324,090.00)$      



1

Municipal Solid Waste Services Contract

THIS MUNICIPAL SOLID WASTE SERVICES CONTRACT (this “Contract”) is made and
entered into on ____ day of _________ by and between the Town of Matthews, North Carolina (the
“Town”), a North Carolina municipal corporation, and BFI Waste Services, LLC / d/b/a/ Allied Waste
Services of Charlotte // Republic Services of Charlotte, a Delaware limited liability company, qualified
to do and actually doing business in the State of North Carolina (“Contractor”).

WITNESSED, THAT in consideration of the covenants and agreements herein contained, to be

performed by the parties hereto and of the payments hereinafter agreed to be made, it is mutually

agreed as follows:

1. Contractor is hereby granted the sole and exclusive franchise, license and privilege
within the territorial jurisdiction of the Town and shall furnish all personnel, labor,
equipment, trucks, and all other items necessary to collect all Residential Unit and
Small Commercial Garbage, Recyclable materials, White Goods and Yard Debris
during term of this Contract as provided in Exhibit A attached hereto.

2. The Contract Documents shall include the following documents, and this Contract
hereby expressly incorporates the same as fully as if set forth verbatim in this
Contract:

Exhibit A – General Specifications

Exhibit B – Certificate of Insurance

Exhibit C – Rates for Services

Exhibit D – Dumpster Service

Exhibit E – Events / Festivals

Exhibit F - E-Verify

Exhibit G – Iran Divestment Act

Exhibit H – Liquidated Damages

Exhibit I – Performance Bond

3. All provisions of the Contract Documents shall be strictly complied with and
conformed to by Contractor, and no amendment to this Contract shall be made
except upon written consent of the parties. No amendment shall be construed to
release either party from any obligation of the Contract Documents except as
specifically provided for in such amendment.

4. The initial term of this Contract shall be from July 1, 2016 (the “Effective Date”) until
June 30, 2021. This Contract will automatically renew for successive two (2) year
terms; provided that, this Contract may be terminated by either party at the end of
any then current year term by giving notice to the following via certified mail ninety
(90) or more days prior to the effective date of the expiration of the then current
contract term.



2

Town of Matthews BFI Waste Services, LLC

Attn: Town Manager Attn: General Manager
5105 Morehead Road
Concord, NC 28027

The terms and conditions as applicable to the initial term shall apply to the two renewal
terms except for the pricing which shall be as provided in the pricing Exhibit to this
Contract during such terms, and, such other changes as may be mutually agreed upon
by the Town and Contractor at the time of extension.

IN WITNESS HEREOF, the Town and Contractor have entered into this Contract on the day

and year first above written, having been executed by representatives with due authority and approval

to execute this Contract. This Contract is executed in duplicate originals and is entered into pursuant

to authority granted by G.S. §160A-312 and other General Statutes.

ATTEST: Town of Matthews, North Carolina

_____________________________ BY: ________________________________

Town Clerk (Seal) ___________, Town Manager

ATTEST: Contractor: BFI Waste Services, LLC
d/b/a/ Allied Waste Systems of Charlotte/
Republic Services of Charlotte

____________________________ BY: ________________________________



3

EXHIBIT A

GENERAL SPECIFICATIONS

I. DEFINITIONS

1. Applicable Law – All applicable federal, state, and local laws, ordinances, rules,
regulations and permit conditions relating to the Services, including without limitation
any applicable requirements relating to protection of human health, safety or the
environment.

2. Area Miss – Multiple Valid Misses or Repeat Missed Collection at multiple Units that
occur generally along a street block, in a neighborhood/subdivision, in a section of a
street and/or a neighborhood/subdivision, and/or a combination of the preceding.

3. Back Door Service – The collection, emptying and returning of a Residential Unit’s
Garbage and / or Recyclable Materials from any physical location or the placement of a
Residential Unit’s Carts or bags on the Customer’s property that is not curbside, but
that is accessible by the Company.

4. Bulky Items – Items such as carpet, furniture, and mattresses.

5. Carts – Plastic receptacles for the storage of either Garbage or Recyclable Materials
with wheels and lids with a capacity of 96 gallons.

6. Company – The Contractor performing collection and disposal services under this
Contract with the Town.

7. Construction Debris – Waste building materials resulting from construction, remodeling,
repair or demolition operations.

8. Container for Garbage – A roll out receptacle (also defined as a Cart) with the
capacities designated on the exhibits hereto that is designed for the purpose of
curbside collection of Garbage from customers.

9. Container for Recycling – A roll out receptacle (also defined as a Cart) with the
capacities designated on the exhibits hereto that is designed for the purpose of
curbside collection of Recyclable Materials from customers.

10. Customer – Residential Units or Small Commercial Units covered by this Contract and
identified by the Town and Company as eligible for services under this Contract.

11. Damages – A fee levied by the Town upon the Company for a circumstance as
specified in this Contract, in a dollar ($) amount as specified in this Contract.

12. Disposal Site – A Garbage depository for Garbage only including but not limited to
sanitary landfills, transfer stations, incinerators, recycling facilities and waste
processing/separation centers licensed, permitted or approved by all governmental
bodies and agencies having jurisdiction and requiring such licenses, permits or
approvals to receive for processing or final disposal of Garbage

13. Dumpster – A large metal receptacle (measured in units of yards) for Garbage and/or
Recyclable Materials.

14. Dumpster Service – Collection service provided by the Company, whereby there is
collection of Multi-Family Garbage, and in some cases, Garbage and Recyclable
Materials, from Dumpsters provided by the Company at locations identified in
Exhibit D.

15. Garbage – Any and all Small Dead Animals; every accumulation of waste (animal,
vegetable and/or other matter) that results from the preparation, processing,



4

consumption, dealing in, handling, packing, canning, storage, transportation, decay or
decomposition of meats, fish, fowl, birds, fruits, grains or other animal or vegetable
matter (including, but not by way of limitation, used tin cans and other food containers;
and all putrescible or easily decomposable waste animal or vegetable matter which is
likely to attract flies or rodents); Rubbish; except (in all cases) any matter included in
the definition of Unacceptable Waste.

16. Hazardous Waste – Any radioactive, volatile, corrosive, highly flammable, explosive,
biomedical, infectious, bio hazardous, toxic or listed or characteristic Hazardous Waste
as defined by federal, state, provincial or local law or any otherwise regulated waste.
Hazardous Waste shall include, but not be limited to, any amount of waste listed or
characterized as hazardous by the United States Environmental Protection Agency or
any state agency pursuant to the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976,
as amended, and including future amendments thereto, and any other Applicable
Laws.

17. Multi-Family – The term Multi-Family shall refer to all residential dwelling units of more
than one (1) unit considered to be condominiums or townhomes.

18. Producer – An occupant of a Residential Unit or Small Commercial Unit who generates
Garbage, Recyclables Material, or Yard Debris.

19. Recycling – The collection of and the delivery of Recyclable Materials pursuant to the
Contract Documents.

20. Recyclable Materials – Any material accepted by the Mecklenburg County Metrolina
Recycling Facility (MRF).

21. Repeat Missed Collection – For a Unit, a Request for Service or a Valid Miss that
occurs more than once in a thirty (30) day period; may also refer to a Repeat Missed
Collection in an Area Miss.

22. Request for Service – Any reported or any discovered missed collection from any one
(1) Unit location at the time it is reported or discovered. Once any route has been
completed, or is scheduled to have been completed, any Unit missed will be
designated as a Request for Service, regardless of the time of day.

23. Residential Unit – An occupied dwelling (whether a single family home or multi-family)
within the corporate limits of the Town requiring curbside collection of (1) or more
Cart(s) for Garbage and (1) or more Cart(s) for Recyclables, or Dumpster Service for
Multi-Family, and Yard Debris pick up. A Residential unit shall be deemed occupied
when either water or domestic light and power services are being supplied thereto.

24. Rubbish – All waste wood, wood chips, shavings, sawdust, printed matter, paper,
pasteboard, rags, straw, used and discarded mattresses, used and discarded clothing,
used and discarded shoes and boots, combustible waste pulp and other products such
as are used for packaging, or wrapping crockery and glass, ashes, cinders, floor
sweepings, glass, mineral or metallic substances, and any and all other waste
materials not included in the definition of Unacceptable Waste.

25. Services – The collection and disposal and/or processing of Garbage, Recyclable
Materials, White Goods and Yard Debris pursuant to this Contract.

26. Small Commercial Unit – A small business operations utilizing up to three (3) Carts for
Garbage and three (3) Carts for Recyclables. Businesses requiring use of four (4) or
more Carts or a dumpster unit for Garbage are excluded from services under this
Contract, unless mutually agreed upon in writing by both the Town and Company.



5

27. Small Dead Animals – Animals or portions thereof less than ten pounds (10 lbs.) in
weight that have expired from any cause, except those slaughtered or killed for human
use.

28. Special Waste – Any nonhazardous solid waste which, because of its physical
characteristics, chemical make-up, or biological nature requires either special handling,
disposal procedures including liquids for solidification at the landfill, documentation,
and/or regulatory authorization, or poses an unusual threat to human health, equipment,
property, or the environment.

29. State – The State of North Carolina.

30. Town – Town of Matthews, North Carolina.

31. Unacceptable Waste – Highly flammable substances, Hazardous Waste, Special
Waste, liquid wastes (wastewater, fats, oils or grease (FOG), used oil, and hazardous
liquids), biological and pathological wastes, explosives, toxic materials, radioactive
materials, material that the disposal facility is not authorized to receive and/or dispose
of, and other materials deemed by state, federal, or local law, or in the reasonable
discretion of the Company, to be dangerous or threatening to health or the environment,
or which cannot be legally accepted at the disposal facility.

32. Unit – A Residential Unit or Small Commercial Unit as defined herein.

33. Valid Miss – A Request for Service that has not been collected by the times specified in
this Contract, and that upon investigation by the Town, is determined that it was
missed by Company’s negligence or intentional omission.

34. White Goods – Residential appliances such as washers, dryers, stoves, window A/C
units and similar items.

35. Yard Debris – Grass clippings, pine needles, dead plants, weeds, tree debris, leaves,
flowers, stalks, stems, tree trimmings, branches, and tree trunks. Yard Debris shall not
include Unacceptable Waste.

II. SCOPE OF WORK

1. The Services provided under this Contract shall consist of the Company providing
Residential Unit and Small Commercial Unit Garbage, Yard Debris, White Goods and
Recyclable Materials collection, including all the supervision, materials, equipment,
labor and all other items necessary to complete said work in accordance with the
Contract Documents. The Company may adjust the unit count quarterly to
accommodate new residents in new homes or businesses upon approval from the
Town. The Company shall transmit a list of these additions to the Town along with the
corresponding invoice.

2. The Company will provide each Residential Unit and Small Commercial Unit with one
(1) 96 gallon rollout plastic Cart on wheels with plastic lids for Garbage and one (1) 96-
gallon rollout plastic Cart on wheels with plastic lids for Recyclable Materials. If the Unit
requests additional Carts for Garbage or Recycling the Company shall provide up to
three (3) additional Carts for each type to the Customer at the current Town rate
covered by this Contract. Additional Garbage Carts shall be billed by the Company
directly to the Customer unless otherwise requested by the Town. Additional Recycling
Carts shall be billed by the Company to the Town, unless otherwise requested by the
Town. The maintenance and upkeep of New Carts shall be the responsibility of the
Company for the life of the initial five-year Contract term or any renewals. This
maintenance shall include repair of wheels, axles, lids, and the replacement of



6

damaged or broken Carts. The delivery or removal of these Carts will be the
responsibility of the Company.

III. TYPE OF COLLECTION

1. Service Provided – Residential Unit and Small Commercial Unit Garbage, White Goods,
Yard Debris, and Recyclable Materials Collection.

A. Residential Unit and Small Commercial Unit Garbage Collection (Curbside once
/week): Collection of all Garbage from Residential Units and Small Commercial
Units within the Town limits, at curb and/or from Carts one time each week on a
schedule. Any occasional overflow placed on top or to the side of the Cart must
be collected. It will be the Company's responsibility to dispose of Garbage
collected in the proper manner. During and limited to the weeks of
Thanksgiving, Christmas, and New Year’s Day, the company will collect total of
three (3) 30 gallon Garbage bags and three (3) 30 gallon Recyclable Materials
clear bags.

B. Residential Unit and Small Commercial Unit Recyclable Materials Collection
(Curbside bi-weekly) - The Recyclables to be included in the curbside pickup
will include items accepted by the Mecklenburg County Metrolina Recycling
Facility (MRF).

Curbside pick-up should be one (1) time bi-weekly at Residential Units and
Small Commercial Units locations within the Town. It will be the Company's
responsibility to dispose of Recyclables collected in the proper manner.

C. White Goods Collection – The Company will collect White Goods and other
Bulky Items on an as-needed basis through an on-call service to the Company.

D. Yard Debris Collection - The Company will collect Yard Debris including tree
branches cut to no longer than 4 foot lengths and 5" in diameter, and Yard
Debris in plastic bags no heavier than 50 pounds on a once per week basis.
Each Residential Unit shall be limited to a maximum of 15 bags or an amount
that can be reasonably picked up within a fifteen (15) minute time period.

E. The Company will not be required to collect and transport any items of building
materials including but not limited to roofing, masonry, lumber, dirt or rocks.
Industrail and business by-products, waste and bulk packaging etc., will not be
picked up as part of the Residential service with except those office and
business units utilizing 96 gallon cart(s).

2. Municipal Service Locations - Included as part of this Contract, the Company shall
collect Garbage and Recyclable materials, once each week or as otherwise agreed to
(the number of Carts required at each location will vary and will be provided by the
Company). There will be no additional charge for the following municipal sites or any
additional municipal sites that commence operation during the term of this Contract:

 Town Hall – 1 – 8 cubic yards

 Crews Road Recreation Center – 1- 8 cubic yards

 Public Works – 1 – 8 cubic yards

 Community Center – 1 – 8 cubic yards

 Matthews Fire Department, Station 1 – 6 cubic yards

 Stump Town Park – 1 – 4 cubic yards

 Squirrel Lake Park – 1 – 4 cubic yards



7

3. Location of Materials for Collection - All Garbage, Recyclable Materials, and Yard
Debris, shall be containerized, bagged, bundled, or neatly placed and shall be placed at
curbside for collection. Curbside refers to that portion of right-of-way adjacent to paved
or traveled Town, NCDOT or private roadways (including alleys). Carts shall be placed
as close to the roadway as practicable without interfering with or endangering the
movement of vehicles or pedestrians. When construction work is being performed in the
right-of-way, Carts shall be placed as close as practicable to an access point for the
collection vehicle. The Company may decline to collect any item not so placed.

4. Back Door Service - Elderly and disabled persons will be required to place on file with
the Town Manager, a medical certification that they are unable to move the Garbage
and/or Recyclable Materials Cart to the curb, or at the discretion of the Town Manger or
his designee. These locations will receive Back Door Service.

5. Reporting – The Company shall prepare a monthly written report which shall include but
not be limited to:

 Number of Units participating with addresses
 New service locations with address
 Weights and/or volumes of each material collected (i.e. Garbage,

Recyclable Materials and Yard Debris)
 Year to date totals for the above

This report should be in a form which can easily be used for meeting the reporting
requirements of the North Carolina Solid Waste Management Annual Report.

IV. OPERATION

1. Area to be Served – All of the area within the present Town limits and any areas
annexed during the period of the Contract.

2. Hours of Operation – Collection shall not start before 6:30 a.m. Eastern Daylight Time
or 7:00 a.m. Eastern Standard Time or continue after 7:00 p.m. on the same day
except as required under it IV.6.B. No pickups will be made on East or West John
Streets, Monroe Road or Highway 51 during rush hours (7:00-9:00 AM and 4:00-6:00
PM). Exceptions to collection hours may occur upon the mutual agreement of the Town
and the Company.

3. Routes of Collection – Collection routes have been established by the Town. The
Company may from time to time, propose to the Town for approval, changes in routes
or days of collection, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. Upon Town's
approval of the proposed changes, the Company shall promptly give written or
published notice to the affected Units. This notification process shall be mutually
developed with the Town and is subject to Town approval.

4. Holidays – The following shall be holidays for purposes of providing service under this
Contract:

New Year's Day
Memorial Day
Independence Day
Labor Day
Thanksgiving Day
Christmas Day



8

On holidays, collection is to shift back one day. All subsequent collection days will also
be affected and a Saturday collection will be required. The regular schedule will be
reinstated on the following Monday.

5. Complaints – All complaints shall be made directly to the Company and shall be given
prompt and courteous attention. In the case of a complaint on missed collections, the
Company shall investigate and, if such miss is verified, shall arrange for the collection of
the Garbage, Recyclable Materials, or Yard Debris not collected within 24 hours after
the complaint is received. A full and complete list of all complaints received by the
Company during the billing period will be submitted monthly to the Town with the
reports required under Section III(5), as a part of each billing to the Town by the
Company.

6. Requests for Service

A. Upon the receipt of a Request for Service, the Town will notify the Company
immediately, through the issuance of a Request for Service, with the date and
address where the Request for Service occurred.

B. If the Town sends ( via electronic, written or verbal communication) a Request
for Service, or provides verbal notification of a Request for Service to the
Company between the hours of 7:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m., on any given collection
day, the Company shall provide collection by 8 p.m. on the same day. The
Company shall collect any Request for Service received after 4:00 p.m. by the
end of the following scheduled collection day. Once the Town has sent a
Request for Service, it shall be considered received by the Company.

C. When the Company's equipment operators are responding to Requests for
Service, they shall be responsible for checking other locations in the same
vicinity for other possible misses in order to prevent additional calls from other
Customers reporting collection misses.

D. Town employees will investigate each Request for Service, and classify it as a
Valid Miss if, in their opinion, the reported miss is due to Company's negligence
or omission. Otherwise, it will remain classified as a Request for Service.

E. Requests for Service and other emergency calls received by the Town on
noncollection days and evenings will be conveyed to the Company. The
Company shall respond to such requests in the same timeframe and manner as
specified in Section IV(6)(B) for Requests for Service, or as specified in other
sections of this Contract for other requests.

F. The Company shall collect Garbage, Recyclable Material and Yard Debris in
response to Requests for Service and shall transport the materials to the
appropriate and approved disposal facility.

G. The Company shall notify (via electronic communication) the Town, in response
to the Request for Service, of the date and time that collection was completed.

H. Communication from the Company on the status of each day's route completion
is vital so that the Town can adequately respond to Customer complaints as
they are received. Therefore, the Company shall notify (via electronic
communication) the Town at the beginning of each collection day of the status
of Company's collection service, identify any unresolved Requests for Service
from the previous day and plans to resolve these outstanding requests; any
changes or delays in route completion, which occur during the day, shall
immediately be reported (via electronic communication) to the Town. This
notification shall include any open routes not covered in the morning and
equipment breakdowns or any other event, which could affect the normal time



9

of completion of any route. If the Company does not keep the Town informed as
required, any reported or discovered collection miss for routes, which should
have been completed for that collection day, will be designated as a Valid Miss.

I. Requests for Service result in additional work for the Town, requiring Customer
service staff to handle Customer service requests, and field and office staff to
provide follow-up to ensure completion. Therefore, the Company shall use its
best efforts to minimize the number of Requests for Services. If the Company
fails to provide Services in accordance with this Contract, the Company shall
pay the Town Damages in the amounts set forth on Exhibit F.

7. Collection Equipment – The Company shall provide an adequate number of vehicles for
regular collection services.

8. Collection Vehicle Cleaning – All collection vehicles must be kept clean, in sanitary
condition, and good repair at all times. The Company shall ensure that all collection
vehicles are washed as required to reduce possible odor and vector problems. The
Company's collection vehicles shall also be empty of all Garbage and Yard Debris prior
to collection of Recyclables and shall be empty of all Recyclables prior to collection of
Garbage and Yard Waste. The Company's equipment operators shall clean out the area
behind the packer blades after each load has been removed.

9. Vehicle Leaks and Spills – Minimizing hydraulic fluid and oil leaks and spills on public or
private streets and parking lots is a high priority for the Town. The Company shall
maintain equipment in top mechanical condition, and the operator shall exercise
vigilance in observing for leaks and spills that may develop during the collection day
and take immediate corrective action to stop the leak or spill and call for cleanup of
hydraulic fluid or oil present upon the public or private streets or parking lots in
accordance to the following standards:

A. The Company's collection vehicles shall be repaired or removed from service
immediately if any spill or leak is a result of a mechanical problem. The
Company shall be responsible for applying absorbent materials, clean up, and
disposal in a manner which complies with any federal, state, and local laws and
regulations, of all oil spills and hydraulic fluid or other leaks associated with its
provision of services. In the event of a spill or leak, the Company shall
immediately notify the Town and shall send a representative to the location of
the incident. If the spill or leak is in a street location and/or is a public safety
hazard, the Company shall also immediately notify the Town and/or other
required public safety personnel. The Town and the Company will evaluate the
spill or leak to determine proper handling. The Town must approve the
Company's recommended clean-up plan, which may require steam cleaning.
The cleanup must commence as soon as possible but no later than four (4)
hours following the spill or leak. After application of absorbent materials is
complete, the Company is responsible for removal of the absorbent material
and/or cleaning of the street, if necessary. The Company shall notify the Town
when the cleanup is completed so that a follow-up inspection can be conducted
to ensure that the cleanup has been completed to the satisfaction of the Town.
Any fluids associated with the spill or the cleanup shall be recovered for proper
disposal and shall NOT be released into the storm water system.

B. If the fails to clean up vehicle leaks and spills, it shall pay the liquidated
damages set forth on Exhibit E.

10. Vehicle Identification – Each of the Company's vehicles will be clearly identified with the
Company name, a vehicle number, and the Company's local telephone number that can
be clearly read from a distance of 100 feet.



10

11. Property Damage – The Company shall have full responsibility for all claims of damage
to private property (real or personal) caused by the negligence or willful misconduct of
the Company. In the event of any property damage caused by the Company, the
Company shall:

A. Immediately notify the Town by telephone followed by electronic
communication.

B. Leave a written notice at the time of the damage at the location where the
damage occurred, informing the Customer of the damage and the telephone
number of the Company to call for follow-up.

C. Provide a written explanation to the Town of the circumstances, results of any
investigation, and disposition of the claim, within five (5) working days,

D. If the Customer submits a claim of damage to private property to the Company
the Company shall notify the Customer within ten (10) working days in writing of
the disposition of the claim and provide a copy to the Town. If the Company
assumes responsibility for the damages, the notification shall Include a date by
which remedial action will be completed.

E. The Company shall use its best efforts to promptly and expeditiously resolve
claims. In the event that the Company denies responsibility for damages and
the Customer pursues a remedy, the Town may investigate. If the Town
believes that the Company is responsible and the Company continues to deny
responsibility, the Town may request (and the Company shall present) evidence
to the Town supporting the Company’s denial, and a representative from the
Company and the Town Manager, or his designee, will meet and resolve the
claim. If the Company does not notify the Town of private property damages,
the Company shall pay Damages to the Town in the amount of $2,000.00 for
each failure to notify.

12. Accidents – The Company shall immediately notify by telephone, followed by immediate
electronic communication, the Town of all vehicular accidents caused in the
performance of the services provided herunder in which there is serious personal injury
or a fatality.

13. Uniforms – The Company shall at all times provide uniforms, with identification of
Company and employee, for all drivers and attendants.

14. Office – The Company shall maintain an office or such other facilities through which it
can be contacted. This office shall have a local telephone number at which the
Company can be reached and it shall be equipped with sufficient telephones and staff
and shall have responsible individuals in charge from 6:30 a.m. to 9:00 p.m. Eastern
Standard Time, on regular collection days. The responsible individuals shall be
knowledgeable about the collection requirements of the Town and shall be courteous
and responsive to all Customers. The Company may also provide a phone number
where the Company may be contacted at all other times. The phone number of the
Company's supervisor of operation must be supplied to the Town. During non-working
hours, the Company shall provide an answering machine, answering service, voice
mail, or other means by which a message from a Customer can be left with the
Company during non-business hours.

15. Drug Free Work Place – The Company shall establish and maintain a drug-free
workplace in connection with the performance of the services under this Contract.

16. Hauling – All collected materials hauled by the Company shall be so contained, tied or
enclosed so that leaking, spilling or blowing are prevented.



11

17. Disposal – All Garbage, Recyclable Material, White Goods and Yard Debris shall be
disposed in accordance with the rules and laws of the State of North Carolina. The
Company shall never comingle material in its collection vehicles collected within the
Town with material collected outside the corporate limits of the Town. The Company
shall be responsible for paying all landfill disposal charges.

18. Point of Contact – All dealings, contacts, etc., between the Company and the Town
shall be directed to the Company's local designee for Town contact and to the Town
Manager, or his/her designee.

19. Educational and Promotional Program – Except with regard to the Unacceptable Waste
education described below, the Company will be responsible for the education of the
Customers served under this Contract and for providing educational programs to any
group which may request such a program. The Company will share in the cost to design
and distribute the annual recycle collection calendar. Company will also advertise in the
Mtthews-Mint Hill Weekly regarding recycle collection calendar twice a year. Town
review and consent to any proposed program shall be required in advance.

20. Cart Maintenance and Upkeep – If the Company is notified within 48 hours of the
regularly scheduled collection day, then Company shall repair or replace these reported
broken or damaged Carts on the next regularly scheduled collection day. If Company is
notifed after 48 hours of the regularly scheduled collection day, then Company shall
repair or replace these reported broken or damaged Carts on the second regularly
scheduled collection day.

21. Compliance with Laws – The Company shall conduct operations under this Contract in
compliance with all applicable Federal, State, and Local laws and ordinances; provided,
however, this Contract shall govern the obligations of the Company. In the event that
the collection of any Garbage, Recyclable Materials, White Goods or Yard Debris, or
the disposal of Garbage or Yard Debris at a sanitary landfill, shall become restricted or
prohibited by any applicable law, rule or regulation, such item of Garbage or Recyclable
Material shall be suspended from this Contract.

22. Nondiscrimination – The Company shall not discriminate against any person because of
race, sex, age, creed, color, gender, religion or national origin and shall comply with all
applicable provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act. Any complaints of
discrimination against the Company must be fully investigated by Company's
management and if it involves a Customer, the report must be provided to the Town as
well.

23. Indemnity – The Company will indemnify and save harmless the Town, its officials,
agents, contractors, and employees from and against any and all suits, actions, legal
proceedings, claims, demands, damages, costs, expenses, and attorney's fees incurred
by its officials, agents, contractors and employees and caused by negligent acts or
omissions or willful misconduct of the Company or by the Company's breach of this
Contract. The Company shall not be liable for any suits, actions, legal proceedings,
claims, demands, damages, costs, expenses and attorneys' fees arising out of the
award of the Contract or the willful misconduct or negligent acts or omissions of the
Town, its officials, agents, contractors and employees.

24. Licenses and Taxes – The Company shall obtain all licenses and permits required to
perform this Contract and promptly pay all taxes owed by the Company to the Town,
State, the County.

25. Term – The Contract shall be for a term of five (5) years beginning on July 1, 2016 and
ending on June 30, 2021. This Contract will automatically renew for successive two (2)
year terms; provided that, this Contract may be terminated by either party at the end of



12

any then current term by giving notice to the following via certified mail ninety (90) or
more days prior to the effective date of the expiration of the then current Contract term.

Town of Matthews
Attn: Town Manager

BFI Waste Services, LLC
Attn: General Manager
5105 Morehead Road
Concord, NC 28027

During the term of this Contract, the Company shall have the exclusive rights to provide
the Services of this Contract as identified in Section II above within the municipal
boundaries of the Town, including annexed areas during the term hereof.

26. Insurance – The Company shall at all times during the term of this Contract maintain in
full force and effect Employer's Liability, Workers’ Compensation, Public Liability and
Property Damage insurance, including contractual liability coverage and shall file
certificates of insurance reflecting such coverage on an annual basis with the Town.
The Town shall be listed as an additional insured on the Company's insurance
certificates. The required insurance coverage amounts are as follows:

Coverage Limits of Liability
Workers’ compensation Statutory
Employer’s Liability $5,000,000.00
Bodily Injury Liability except Automobile $5,000,000.00 each occurrence
Property Damage Liability except Automobile $5,000,000.00 each aggregate
Automobile Bodily Injury Liability $5,000,000.00 Combined Single

Limit
Automobile Property Damage Liability $5,000,000.00 each occurrence
Excess Umbrella Liability $10,000,000.00 each occurrence

To the extent permitted by law, all or any part of any required insurance coverages may
be provided under a plan or plans of self-insurance. The coverages may he provided by
the Company's parent corporation as approved by the Town.

27. Bond

A. Performance Bond
i. The Company shall furnish a corporate surety bond as security for the

performance of this Contract. Said surety bond must be in the amount of
100% of the annual Contract amount. Said surety bond’s amount must
be revised and a new bond furnished annually to reflect the current
annual Contract amount.

ii. The premium for the bond(s) described above shall be paid by the
Company. A certificate from the surety showing that the bond premiums
are paid in full shall accompany the bond.

i. The surety on the bond shall be duly authorized corporate surety
company authorized to do business in the State of North Carolina.

28. Power of Attorney – Attorneys-in-fact who sign performance bonds or Contract bonds
must file with each bond a certified and effectively dated copy of their power of attorney.

29. Termination

A. Should the Town determine, in its reasonable discretion, that the level and
quality of service being provided by the Company is inadequate, written notice



13

of the inadequacy shall be provided to the Company by the Town. Should the
Company fail to correct the inadequacy to the reasonable satisfaction of the
Town within thirty (30) days after delivery of the written notice then the Town
may cancel this Contract in its discretion by providing the Company three (3)
months’ notice of such termination.

B. Should the Company determine that the Town is in breach of contract or in
default of its contract provisions, written notice of the breach or default shall be
provided to the Town by the Company. Should the Town fail to correct the
breach or default within sixty (60) days after delivery of the written notice, then
the Company may cancel this Contract in its discretion by providing the Town
twelve (12) months’ notice of such termination.

C. In the case of early termination, the Town shall be allowed to make demand for
its Damages under the terms and provisions of the Performance Bond, in
addition to its other legal and equitable remedies that are available under the
laws of the United States and the State of North Carolina.

30. Basis and Method of Payment

A. Rates - For collection Services specified in Section III(1) above, the Company
shall charge the Town the rates as shown on Exhibit C. Rates will be paid on an
audited per Unit charge that is due twenty (20) days following the month of
service.

The Unit count in the final quarter of Fiscal Year 2016 (April-June 2016) for
billing to the Town under the previous Contract will be the starting-point basis
for billing by the Company for this Contract. Subsequent changes in the number
of Units, either through changes within the current Contract area or annexation
of new area shall be approved by the Town. The Company may also adjust the
unit count quarterly to accommodate new residents in new homes or
businesses upon approval from the Town. The Company shall transmit a list of
these additions to the Town along with the corresponding invoice. The
Company shall request changes in writing and the Town shall verify the Units. If
any location is in dispute the Town and the Company will investigate the
location and it will be finally determined by the Town. Changes in Unit numbers
will be approved no more frequently than on a quarterly basis.

B. Modification to Rates

i. The Company shall increase or decrease the rates for service effective
on each anniversary of the effective date of this Contract in an amount
equal to the percentage increases in the Consumer Price Index for All
Urban Consumers (CPI-U) – U.S. City Average, Water, Sewer and
Trash, as published by United States Department of Labor, Bureau of
Statistics (the “CPI”). Rates will be increased or decreased using the
month of February.

ii. Landfill Charges, Fees, Taxes: In addition to the foregoing, the rates
which may be charged by the Company may, from time to time be
increased or decreased, as the case may be, to reflect increases or
decreases in landfill charges; increases in Company's costs of operation
in the event that Garbage must be transported to an alternate disposal
site; or increases resulting from the imposition of, or any increase in, any
fees or taxes of any governmental authority, any changes in applicable
laws, rules or regulations of any governmental authority, or changes in
interpretation thereof that clearly affect operating costs.



14

iii. Other unusual changes: In addition, the Company may petition the Town
for a rate increase on the basis of other unusual changes in the
Company's cost of operations, including by example those resulting from
a significant increase in the area of service from growth or annexations
or required changes in the method of collection, by written request with
written justification and these must be approved by the Town, provided
that the Town will not withhold such approval unreasonably.

iv. The Company may request a fuel recovery adjustment in writing to the
Town for its approval, and the Town will not withhold its approval
unreasonably. The fuel recovery request shall be determined by the
Department of Energy's Weekly Retail on Highway Diesel Prices for the
"Lower Atlantic" ("DOE Price") over the base rate of $2.75 per gallon.

C. Company Billings to Town – The Company shall bill the Town within five (5)
days following the end of each month for services rendered. The Town shall
pay the Company on or before the 20th day following the end of the month to
which the bill relates. All bills shall be accompanied by a State and Local Sales
and Use Tax Statement, number of Units, any new Units and their service
addresses, weights and/or volumes of each material collected (i.e. Garbage,
Recyclable Materials by material, and Yard Debris), percent of participation for
Recyclable Materials Service, and year to date totals for the above. Billing shall
be based on the current number of Residential Units and Small Commercial
Units at the end of the billing cycle. Any added Units shall be submitted and
confirmed by the Town and certified by the Company (to include delivery of
Carts) before approval by the Town. Town approval of changed Unit numbers
will be on a quarterly basis.

31. Storm and Other Disasters – Notwithstanding any term of this Contract, the Company
shall not be liable for damages (or be held in breach or default) for its failure to perform
due to contingencies beyond its control including but not limited to strikes, riots,
flooding, terrorism, fires or acts of God (a “Force Majeure Event”). During any period
when performance of the Company’s obligation is prevented by a Force Majeure Event,
that obligation shall be suspended provided that the Company shall resume
performance as soon as reasonably possible upon cessation of the Force Majeure
Event. The Company shall notify the other party as soon as practical upon the
beginning and ending of the Force Majeure Event. If the Company is reasonably
willing or able to provide some level of the services during a period of a Force Majeure
Event, the Company’s reasonable performance under the circumstances shall be
sufficient, the Town shall grant the Company variances in routes and schedules as may
be deemed necessary by Company and agreed to by the Town, and partial
performance shall not be considered a breach of performance or event of default. If the
Company is required to incur additional expenses in performing its obligations during a
Force Majeure Event or thereafter as a result of damages caused by the Force Majeure
Event, then the Company may pass through those expenses to the Town, and the Town
shall reimburse the Company in accordance with this Contract.” The Services under
this Contract do not include the collection and disposal of any increased volume
resulting from a Force Majeure Event. The Town and the Company shall negotiate
mutually agreed-upon amounts to be paid to Company for any extra services to be
performed as a result of increased volumes resulting from unforeseen and extraordinary
events.

32. Assignment of Contract – The Contract shall not be assigned in whole or in part by the
Company without the express written consent of the Town, which consent shall not be
unreasonably withheld. Further, an assignment of the Contract shall not release the



15

Company from liability of its obligations and duties stated hereinunless agreed to in
writing by the Town.

33. Ownership; Unacceptable Waste – Title to all items collected under the terms of the
Contract that the Company has agreed to accept shall pass to the Company when
placed in the Company's collection vehicle, removed by the Company from a Cart, or
removed by Company from the Residential Unit or Small Commercial Unit, whichever
occurs first.

The Company shall not be required to collect, handle, transport, or dispose of
Unacceptable Waste, and the Company may reject the same in its sole discretion. The
Town shall not provide Unacceptable Waste to the Company for collection, transport, or
disposal. Upon request by the Company, any individual or entity who provides
Unacceptable Waste to the Company shall be required to remove the same from the
Company’s vehicle or premises immediately. Any individual or entity who provides
Unacceptable Waste to the Company shall be liable to the Company for the Company’s
damages and other costs incurred as a result of the same. Notwithstanding anything to
the contrary stated herein or otherwise, the Company may immediately remove any
Unacceptable Waste provided by such individual or entity at the expense of such
individual or entity, if such Unacceptable Waste creates an emergency condition or
negatively impacts the Company’s business or operations. The Company shall at no
time take title to such Unacceptable Waste even in removing it as provided in the
foregoing sentence. Title and Liability for Unacceptable Waste shall remain with the
Residential Unit or Small Commercial Unit that generated the Unacceptable Waste. The
Company shall notify the Town upon finding Unacceptable Waste in its Garbage.
The Town shall make reasonable efforts to (i) inform the public that Unacceptable Waste
is not to be provided to the Company, and (ii) cooperate with the Company in order to
identify any individuals or entities who provide Unacceptable Waste to the Company and
to collect (from such individual or entity) and remit to the Company an amount to
compensate the Company for its costs incurred in connection with such Unacceptable
Waste.

34. Miscellaneous Terms

A. The Company shall provide adequate supervision to assure that all work will be
done in accordance with these Contract terms and generally accepted
solidwaste disposal practices.

B. Except as otherwise provided herein, all work outside the express terms of the
Contract must have prior written approval by the Town. Charges for extra work
will be submitted to the Town for approval prior to the commencement of work.

C. The use of any subcontractor shall be subject to the prior, written approval of
the Town, which may be withheld for any reason. Subcontractor work is to be
considered only in exceptional circumstances.

D. This Contract shall be construed under and in accordance with the laws of the
State of North Carolina.

E. This Contract shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties
hereto and their respective heirs, executors, administrators, legal
representatives, successors and assigns where an assignment has been
permitted.

F. In the event that any one or more of the provisions contained in this Contract
shall for any reason be held to be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable in any
respect, on its face or as applied, such invalidity, illegality, or unenforceability



16

shall not affect any other provision thereof and this Contract shall be construed
as if such invalid, illegal, or unenforceable provision had never been contained
herein or modified if possible, consistent with the intent of the parties. The
remainder of the Contract shall not be affected thereby, and all other provisions
shall remain valid and enforceable. This Contract constitutes the sole and only
agreement of the parties hereto and supersedes any prior understandings or
written or oral agreements between theparties respecting the subject matter of
this Contract.

G. No failure or delay by either party to enforce any right or term herein shall
operate as a wavier thereof or as an on-going waiver, nor shall any partial
exercise thereof preclude any further exercise thereof or the exercise of any
other right, power, or privilege.

H. Time is of the essence for each and every part of this Contract.

I. The headings contained in this Contract are for convenience only and shall not
be part or affect the meaning or interpretation of this Contract.



EXHIBIT B - Certificate of Insurance 

 



 



 



18

EXHIBIT C – Rates for Services

Residential and Small Commercial Business Solid Waste:
one (1) – 96 Gallon Cart serviced once a week: $ 4.75 per cart.

Residential Back Door Solid Waste:
one (1) – 96 Gallon Cart serviced once a week: $ 5.25 per cart.

Residential and Small Commercial Business Recycling:
one (1) – 96 Gallon Cart serviced once a week: $ 2.70 per cart.

Residential Back Door Recycling:
one (1) – 96 Gallon Cart serviced once a week: $ 3.20 per cart.

Residential Yard Waste: $4.31 per unit.
serviced once per week

Residential Bulky Waste: $ 0.00 per unit.
serviced on an on-call basis

Downtown Area Decorative Containers
serviced twice per week: $ 12.20 per container



19

EXHIBIT D – Dumpster Service

Town Hall – 1 – 8 cubic yards

Crews Road Recreation Center – 1- 8 cubic yards

Public Works – 1 – 8 cubic yards

Community Center – 1 – 8 cubic yards

Matthews Fire Department, Station 1 – 6 cubic yards

Stump Town Park – 1 – 4 cubic yards

Squirrel Lake Park – 1 – 4 cubic yard

*Service Levels may change as needed for items on Exhibit D



  EXHIBIT E - Events / Festivals 

 

  Republic Services will participate in providing services for the annual Beach Festival, 

Matthews Alive, increase services for Food Truck Fridays and event boxes for other various 

Town activities 

 

 



EXHIBIT F - E-Verify 

 



EXHIBIT G - Iran Divestment Act 

 



23

EXHIBIT H – Liquidated Damages

I.22 Request of Service

1 to 10 each $200

11 to 20 each $300

21+ each $500

Per month when Missed >200 Lump Sum $5,000

I.21 Repeat Collection Misses

2nd and 3rd Miss each $500

4 or more Misses each $1,000

1.2 Area Misses

1 -100 Misses Lump Sum $2,000

>100 Misses each $20

IV.11 Property Damage/Accidents

Failure to Notify Town each $2,000

III.3 Roll-out Container Placement

1 to 5 each $200

6 to 10 each $300

11+ each $500

IV.9 Vehicle Leaks and Spills

Failure to Remove from Service each $3,000

Failure to Clean-up Spill each $1,500

1 to 5 leaks or spills/month each $1,000

6+ leaks of spills/month each $1,500
(These are cumulative/incident)

Care & Diligence/Littering

Failure to clean up litter & debris each $500

IV.8 Mixed Loads (Garbage and Recycling)

Per incident Lump Sum $1,000

Emergency Un-load Clean-up

For Each 2 delay after 2 hours each $500

Town provided clean-up each $2,000

IV.17 Delivery of Recycling to the Landfill

Each incident each $500

Town Provided Collection

Per incident each $500



EXHIBIT I - Performance Bond 





1

Municipal Solid Waste Services Contract

THIS MUNICIPAL SOLID WASTE SERVICES CONTRACT (this “Contract”) is made and
entered into on ____ day of _________ by and between the Town of Matthews, North Carolina (the
“Town”), a North Carolina municipal corporation, and BFI Waste Services, LLC / d/b/a/ Allied Waste
Services of Charlotte // Republic Services of Charlotte, a Delaware limited liability company, qualified
to do and actually doing business in the State of North Carolina (“Contractor”).

WITNESSED, THAT in consideration of the covenants and agreements herein contained, to be

performed by the parties hereto and of the payments hereinafter agreed to be made, it is mutually

agreed as follows:

1. Contractor is hereby granted the sole and exclusive franchise, license and privilege
within the territorial jurisdiction of the Town and shall furnish all personnel, labor,
equipment, trucks, and all other items necessary to collect all Residential Unit and
Small Commercial Garbage, Recyclable materials, White Goods and Yard Debris
during term of this Contract as provided in Exhibit A attached hereto.

2. The Contract Documents shall include the following documents, and this Contract
hereby expressly incorporates the same as fully as if set forth verbatim in this
Contract:

Exhibit A – General Specifications

Exhibit B – Certificate of Insurance

Exhibit C – Rates for Services

Exhibit D – Dumpster Service

Exhibit E – Events / Festivals

Exhibit F - E-Verify

Exhibit G – Iran Divestment Act

Exhibit H – Liquidated Damages

Exhibit I – Performance Bond

3. All provisions of the Contract Documents shall be strictly complied with and
conformed to by Contractor, and no amendment to this Contract shall be made
except upon written consent of the parties. No amendment shall be construed to
release either party from any obligation of the Contract Documents except as
specifically provided for in such amendment.

4. The initial term of this Contract shall be from July 1, 2016 (the “Effective Date”) until
June 30, 2023. This Contract will automatically renew for successive two (2) year
terms; provided that, this Contract may be terminated by either party at the end of
any then current year term by giving notice to the following via certified mail ninety
(90) or more days prior to the effective date of the expiration of the then current
contract term.

 

 



2

Town of Matthews BFI Waste Services, LLC

Attn: Town Manager Attn: General Manager
5105 Morehead Road
Concord, NC 28027

The terms and conditions as applicable to the initial term shall apply to the two renewal
terms except for the pricing which shall be as provided in the pricing Exhibit to this
Contract during such terms, and, such other changes as may be mutually agreed upon
by the Town and Contractor at the time of extension.

IN WITNESS HEREOF, the Town and Contractor have entered into this Contract on the day

and year first above written, having been executed by representatives with due authority and approval

to execute this Contract. This Contract is executed in duplicate originals and is entered into pursuant

to authority granted by G.S. §160A-312 and other General Statutes.

ATTEST: Town of Matthews, North Carolina

_____________________________ BY: ________________________________

Town Clerk (Seal) ___________, Town Manager

ATTEST: Contractor: BFI Waste Services, LLC
d/b/a/ Allied Waste Systems of Charlotte/
Republic Services of Charlotte

____________________________ BY: ________________________________



3

EXHIBIT A

GENERAL SPECIFICATIONS

I. DEFINITIONS

1. Applicable Law – All applicable federal, state, and local laws, ordinances, rules,
regulations and permit conditions relating to the Services, including without limitation
any applicable requirements relating to protection of human health, safety or the
environment.

2. Area Miss – Multiple Valid Misses or Repeat Missed Collection at multiple Units that
occur generally along a street block, in a neighborhood/subdivision, in a section of a
street and/or a neighborhood/subdivision, and/or a combination of the preceding.

3. Back Door Service – The collection, emptying and returning of a Residential Unit’s
Garbage and / or Recyclable Materials from any physical location or the placement of a
Residential Unit’s Carts or bags on the Customer’s property that is not curbside, but
that is accessible by the Company.

4. Bulky Items – Items such as carpet, furniture, and mattresses.

5. Carts – Plastic receptacles for the storage of either Garbage or Recyclable Materials
with wheels and lids with a capacity of 96 gallons.

6. Company – The Contractor performing collection and disposal services under this
Contract with the Town.

7. Construction Debris – Waste building materials resulting from construction, remodeling,
repair or demolition operations.

8. Container for Garbage – A roll out receptacle (also defined as a Cart) with the
capacities designated on the exhibits hereto that is designed for the purpose of
curbside collection of Garbage from customers.

9. Container for Recycling – A roll out receptacle (also defined as a Cart) with the
capacities designated on the exhibits hereto that is designed for the purpose of
curbside collection of Recyclable Materials from customers.

10. Customer – Residential Units or Small Commercial Units covered by this Contract and
identified by the Town and Company as eligible for services under this Contract.

11. Damages – A fee levied by the Town upon the Company for a circumstance as
specified in this Contract, in a dollar ($) amount as specified in this Contract.

12. Disposal Site – A Garbage depository for Garbage only including but not limited to
sanitary landfills, transfer stations, incinerators, recycling facilities and waste
processing/separation centers licensed, permitted or approved by all governmental
bodies and agencies having jurisdiction and requiring such licenses, permits or
approvals to receive for processing or final disposal of Garbage

13. Dumpster – A large metal receptacle (measured in units of yards) for Garbage and/or
Recyclable Materials.

14. Dumpster Service – Collection service provided by the Company, whereby there is
collection of Multi-Family Garbage, and in some cases, Garbage and Recyclable
Materials, from Dumpsters provided by the Company at locations identified in
Exhibit D.

15. Garbage – Any and all Small Dead Animals; every accumulation of waste (animal,
vegetable and/or other matter) that results from the preparation, processing,



4

consumption, dealing in, handling, packing, canning, storage, transportation, decay or
decomposition of meats, fish, fowl, birds, fruits, grains or other animal or vegetable
matter (including, but not by way of limitation, used tin cans and other food containers;
and all putrescible or easily decomposable waste animal or vegetable matter which is
likely to attract flies or rodents); Rubbish; except (in all cases) any matter included in
the definition of Unacceptable Waste.

16. Hazardous Waste – Any radioactive, volatile, corrosive, highly flammable, explosive,
biomedical, infectious, bio hazardous, toxic or listed or characteristic Hazardous Waste
as defined by federal, state, provincial or local law or any otherwise regulated waste.
Hazardous Waste shall include, but not be limited to, any amount of waste listed or
characterized as hazardous by the United States Environmental Protection Agency or
any state agency pursuant to the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976,
as amended, and including future amendments thereto, and any other Applicable
Laws.

17. Multi-Family – The term Multi-Family shall refer to all residential dwelling units of more
than one (1) unit considered to be condominiums or townhomes.

18. Producer – An occupant of a Residential Unit or Small Commercial Unit who generates
Garbage, Recyclables Material, or Yard Debris.

19. Recycling – The collection of and the delivery of Recyclable Materials pursuant to the
Contract Documents.

20. Recyclable Materials – Any material accepted by the Mecklenburg County Metrolina
Recycling Facility (MRF).

21. Repeat Missed Collection – For a Unit, a Request for Service or a Valid Miss that
occurs more than once in a thirty (30) day period; may also refer to a Repeat Missed
Collection in an Area Miss.

22. Request for Service – Any reported or any discovered missed collection from any one
(1) Unit location at the time it is reported or discovered. Once any route has been
completed, or is scheduled to have been completed, any Unit missed will be
designated as a Request for Service, regardless of the time of day.

23. Residential Unit – An occupied dwelling (whether a single family home or multi-family)
within the corporate limits of the Town requiring curbside collection of (1) or more
Cart(s) for Garbage and (1) or more Cart(s) for Recyclables, or Dumpster Service for
Multi-Family, and Yard Debris pick up. A Residential unit shall be deemed occupied
when either water or domestic light and power services are being supplied thereto.

24. Rubbish – All waste wood, wood chips, shavings, sawdust, printed matter, paper,
pasteboard, rags, straw, used and discarded mattresses, used and discarded clothing,
used and discarded shoes and boots, combustible waste pulp and other products such
as are used for packaging, or wrapping crockery and glass, ashes, cinders, floor
sweepings, glass, mineral or metallic substances, and any and all other waste
materials not included in the definition of Unacceptable Waste.

25. Services – The collection and disposal and/or processing of Garbage, Recyclable
Materials, White Goods and Yard Debris pursuant to this Contract.

26. Small Commercial Unit – A small business operations utilizing up to three (3) Carts for
Garbage and three (3) Carts for Recyclables. Businesses requiring use of four (4) or
more Carts or a dumpster unit for Garbage are excluded from services under this
Contract, unless mutually agreed upon in writing by both the Town and Company.



5

27. Small Dead Animals – Animals or portions thereof less than ten pounds (10 lbs.) in
weight that have expired from any cause, except those slaughtered or killed for human
use.

28. Special Waste – Any nonhazardous solid waste which, because of its physical
characteristics, chemical make-up, or biological nature requires either special handling,
disposal procedures including liquids for solidification at the landfill, documentation,
and/or regulatory authorization, or poses an unusual threat to human health, equipment,
property, or the environment.

29. State – The State of North Carolina.

30. Town – Town of Matthews, North Carolina.

31. Unacceptable Waste – Highly flammable substances, Hazardous Waste, Special
Waste, liquid wastes (wastewater, fats, oils or grease (FOG), used oil, and hazardous
liquids), biological and pathological wastes, explosives, toxic materials, radioactive
materials, material that the disposal facility is not authorized to receive and/or dispose
of, and other materials deemed by state, federal, or local law, or in the reasonable
discretion of the Company, to be dangerous or threatening to health or the environment,
or which cannot be legally accepted at the disposal facility.

32. Unit – A Residential Unit or Small Commercial Unit as defined herein.

33. Valid Miss – A Request for Service that has not been collected by the times specified in
this Contract, and that upon investigation by the Town, is determined that it was
missed by Company’s negligence or intentional omission.

34. White Goods – Residential appliances such as washers, dryers, stoves, window A/C
units and similar items.

35. Yard Debris – Grass clippings, pine needles, dead plants, weeds, tree debris, leaves,
flowers, stalks, stems, tree trimmings, branches, and tree trunks. Yard Debris shall not
include Unacceptable Waste.

II. SCOPE OF WORK

1. The Services provided under this Contract shall consist of the Company providing
Residential Unit and Small Commercial Unit Garbage, Yard Debris, White Goods and
Recyclable Materials collection, including all the supervision, materials, equipment,
labor and all other items necessary to complete said work in accordance with the
Contract Documents. The Company may adjust the unit count quarterly to
accommodate new residents in new homes or businesses upon approval from the
Town. The Company shall transmit a list of these additions to the Town along with the
corresponding invoice.

2. The Company will provide each Residential Unit and Small Commercial Unit with one
(1) 96 gallon rollout plastic Cart on wheels with plastic lids for Garbage and one (1) 96-
gallon rollout plastic Cart on wheels with plastic lids for Recyclable Materials. If the Unit
requests additional Carts for Garbage or Recycling the Company shall provide up to
three (3) additional Carts for each type to the Customer at the current Town rate
covered by this Contract. Additional Garbage Carts shall be billed by the Company
directly to the Customer unless otherwise requested by the Town. Additional Recycling
Carts shall be billed by the Company to the Town, unless otherwise requested by the
Town. The maintenance and upkeep of New Carts shall be the responsibility of the
Company for the life of the initial seven (7) year Contract term or any renewals. This
maintenance shall include repair of wheels, axles, lids, and the replacement of



6

damaged or broken Carts. The delivery or removal of these Carts will be the
responsibility of the Company.

III. TYPE OF COLLECTION

1. Service Provided – Residential Unit and Small Commercial Unit Garbage, White Goods,
Yard Debris, and Recyclable Materials Collection.

A. Residential Unit and Small Commercial Unit Garbage Collection (Curbside once
/week): Collection of all Garbage from Residential Units and Small Commercial
Units within the Town limits, at curb and/or from Carts one time each week on a
schedule. Any occasional overflow placed on top or to the side of the Cart must
be collected. It will be the Company's responsibility to dispose of Garbage
collected in the proper manner. During and limited to the weeks of
Thanksgiving, Christmas, and New Year’s Day, the company will collect total of
three (3) 30 gallon Garbage bags and three (3) 30 gallon Recyclable Materials
clear bags.

B. Residential Unit and Small Commercial Unit Recyclable Materials Collection
(Curbside bi-weekly) - The Recyclables to be included in the curbside pickup
will include items accepted by the Mecklenburg County Metrolina Recycling
Facility (MRF).

Curbside pick-up should be one (1) time bi-weekly at Residential Units and
Small Commercial Units locations within the Town. It will be the Company's
responsibility to dispose of Recyclables collected in the proper manner.

C. White Goods Collection – The Company will collect White Goods and other
Bulky Items on an as-needed basis through an on-call service to the Company.

D. Yard Debris Collection - The Company will collect Yard Debris including tree
branches cut to no longer than 4 foot lengths and 5" in diameter, and Yard
Debris in plastic bags no heavier than 50 pounds on a once per week basis.
Each Residential Unit shall be limited to a maximum of 15 bags or an amount
that can be reasonably picked up within a fifteen (15) minute time period.

E. The Company will not be required to collect and transport any items of building
materials including but not limited to roofing, masonry, lumber, dirt or rocks.
Industrail and business by-products, waste and bulk packaging etc., will not be
picked up as part of the Residential service with except those office and
business units utilizing 96 gallon cart(s).

2. Municipal Service Locations - Included as part of this Contract, the Company shall
collect Garbage and Recyclable materials, once each week or as otherwise agreed to
(the number of Carts required at each location will vary and will be provided by the
Company). There will be no additional charge for the following municipal sites or any
additional municipal sites that commence operation during the term of this Contract:

 Town Hall – 1 – 8 cubic yards

 Crews Road Recreation Center – 1- 8 cubic yards

 Public Works – 1 – 8 cubic yards

 Community Center – 1 – 8 cubic yards

 Matthews Fire Department, Station 1 – 6 cubic yards

 Stump Town Park – 1 – 4 cubic yards

 Squirrel Lake Park – 1 – 4 cubic yards



7

3. Location of Materials for Collection - All Garbage, Recyclable Materials, and Yard
Debris, shall be containerized, bagged, bundled, or neatly placed and shall be placed at
curbside for collection. Curbside refers to that portion of right-of-way adjacent to paved
or traveled Town, NCDOT or private roadways (including alleys). Carts shall be placed
as close to the roadway as practicable without interfering with or endangering the
movement of vehicles or pedestrians. When construction work is being performed in the
right-of-way, Carts shall be placed as close as practicable to an access point for the
collection vehicle. The Company may decline to collect any item not so placed.

4. Back Door Service - Elderly and disabled persons will be required to place on file with
the Town Manager, a medical certification that they are unable to move the Garbage
and/or Recyclable Materials Cart to the curb, or at the discretion of the Town Manger or
his designee. These locations will receive Back Door Service.

5. Reporting – The Company shall prepare a monthly written report which shall include but
not be limited to:

 Number of Units participating with addresses
 New service locations with address
 Weights and/or volumes of each material collected (i.e. Garbage,

Recyclable Materials and Yard Debris)
 Year to date totals for the above

This report should be in a form which can easily be used for meeting the reporting
requirements of the North Carolina Solid Waste Management Annual Report.

IV. OPERATION

1. Area to be Served – All of the area within the present Town limits and any areas
annexed during the period of the Contract.

2. Hours of Operation – Collection shall not start before 6:30 a.m. Eastern Daylight Time
or 7:00 a.m. Eastern Standard Time or continue after 7:00 p.m. on the same day
except as required under it IV.6.B. No pickups will be made on East or West John
Streets, Monroe Road or Highway 51 during rush hours (7:00-9:00 AM and 4:00-6:00
PM). Exceptions to collection hours may occur upon the mutual agreement of the Town
and the Company.

3. Routes of Collection – Collection routes have been established by the Town. The
Company may from time to time, propose to the Town for approval, changes in routes
or days of collection, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. Upon Town's
approval of the proposed changes, the Company shall promptly give written or
published notice to the affected Units. This notification process shall be mutually
developed with the Town and is subject to Town approval.

4. Holidays – The following shall be holidays for purposes of providing service under this
Contract:

New Year's Day
Memorial Day
Independence Day
Labor Day
Thanksgiving Day
Christmas Day



8

On holidays, collection is to shift back one day. All subsequent collection days will also
be affected and a Saturday collection will be required. The regular schedule will be
reinstated on the following Monday.

5. Complaints – All complaints shall be made directly to the Company and shall be given
prompt and courteous attention. In the case of a complaint on missed collections, the
Company shall investigate and, if such miss is verified, shall arrange for the collection of
the Garbage, Recyclable Materials, or Yard Debris not collected within 24 hours after
the complaint is received. A full and complete list of all complaints received by the
Company during the billing period will be submitted monthly to the Town with the
reports required under Section III(5), as a part of each billing to the Town by the
Company.

6. Requests for Service

A. Upon the receipt of a Request for Service, the Town will notify the Company
immediately, through the issuance of a Request for Service, with the date and
address where the Request for Service occurred.

B. If the Town sends ( via electronic, written or verbal communication) a Request
for Service, or provides verbal notification of a Request for Service to the
Company between the hours of 7:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m., on any given collection
day, the Company shall provide collection by 8 p.m. on the same day. The
Company shall collect any Request for Service received after 4:00 p.m. by the
end of the following scheduled collection day. Once the Town has sent a
Request for Service, it shall be considered received by the Company.

C. When the Company's equipment operators are responding to Requests for
Service, they shall be responsible for checking other locations in the same
vicinity for other possible misses in order to prevent additional calls from other
Customers reporting collection misses.

D. Town employees will investigate each Request for Service, and classify it as a
Valid Miss if, in their opinion, the reported miss is due to Company's negligence
or omission. Otherwise, it will remain classified as a Request for Service.

E. Requests for Service and other emergency calls received by the Town on
noncollection days and evenings will be conveyed to the Company. The
Company shall respond to such requests in the same timeframe and manner as
specified in Section IV(6)(B) for Requests for Service, or as specified in other
sections of this Contract for other requests.

F. The Company shall collect Garbage, Recyclable Material and Yard Debris in
response to Requests for Service and shall transport the materials to the
appropriate and approved disposal facility.

G. The Company shall notify (via electronic communication) the Town, in response
to the Request for Service, of the date and time that collection was completed.

H. Communication from the Company on the status of each day's route completion
is vital so that the Town can adequately respond to Customer complaints as
they are received. Therefore, the Company shall notify (via electronic
communication) the Town at the beginning of each collection day of the status
of Company's collection service, identify any unresolved Requests for Service
from the previous day and plans to resolve these outstanding requests; any
changes or delays in route completion, which occur during the day, shall
immediately be reported (via electronic communication) to the Town. This
notification shall include any open routes not covered in the morning and
equipment breakdowns or any other event, which could affect the normal time



9

of completion of any route. If the Company does not keep the Town informed as
required, any reported or discovered collection miss for routes, which should
have been completed for that collection day, will be designated as a Valid Miss.

I. Requests for Service result in additional work for the Town, requiring Customer
service staff to handle Customer service requests, and field and office staff to
provide follow-up to ensure completion. Therefore, the Company shall use its
best efforts to minimize the number of Requests for Services. If the Company
fails to provide Services in accordance with this Contract, the Company shall
pay the Town Damages in the amounts set forth on Exhibit F.

7. Collection Equipment – The Company shall provide an adequate number of vehicles for
regular collection services.

8. Collection Vehicle Cleaning – All collection vehicles must be kept clean, in sanitary
condition, and good repair at all times. The Company shall ensure that all collection
vehicles are washed as required to reduce possible odor and vector problems. The
Company's collection vehicles shall also be empty of all Garbage and Yard Debris prior
to collection of Recyclables and shall be empty of all Recyclables prior to collection of
Garbage and Yard Waste. The Company's equipment operators shall clean out the area
behind the packer blades after each load has been removed.

9. Vehicle Leaks and Spills – Minimizing hydraulic fluid and oil leaks and spills on public or
private streets and parking lots is a high priority for the Town. The Company shall
maintain equipment in top mechanical condition, and the operator shall exercise
vigilance in observing for leaks and spills that may develop during the collection day
and take immediate corrective action to stop the leak or spill and call for cleanup of
hydraulic fluid or oil present upon the public or private streets or parking lots in
accordance to the following standards:

A. The Company's collection vehicles shall be repaired or removed from service
immediately if any spill or leak is a result of a mechanical problem. The
Company shall be responsible for applying absorbent materials, clean up, and
disposal in a manner which complies with any federal, state, and local laws and
regulations, of all oil spills and hydraulic fluid or other leaks associated with its
provision of services. In the event of a spill or leak, the Company shall
immediately notify the Town and shall send a representative to the location of
the incident. If the spill or leak is in a street location and/or is a public safety
hazard, the Company shall also immediately notify the Town and/or other
required public safety personnel. The Town and the Company will evaluate the
spill or leak to determine proper handling. The Town must approve the
Company's recommended clean-up plan, which may require steam cleaning.
The cleanup must commence as soon as possible but no later than four (4)
hours following the spill or leak. After application of absorbent materials is
complete, the Company is responsible for removal of the absorbent material
and/or cleaning of the street, if necessary. The Company shall notify the Town
when the cleanup is completed so that a follow-up inspection can be conducted
to ensure that the cleanup has been completed to the satisfaction of the Town.
Any fluids associated with the spill or the cleanup shall be recovered for proper
disposal and shall NOT be released into the storm water system.

B. If the fails to clean up vehicle leaks and spills, it shall pay the liquidated
damages set forth on Exhibit E.

10. Vehicle Identification – Each of the Company's vehicles will be clearly identified with the
Company name, a vehicle number, and the Company's local telephone number that can
be clearly read from a distance of 100 feet.



10

11. Property Damage – The Company shall have full responsibility for all claims of damage
to private property (real or personal) caused by the negligence or willful misconduct of
the Company. In the event of any property damage caused by the Company, the
Company shall:

A. Immediately notify the Town by telephone followed by electronic
communication.

B. Leave a written notice at the time of the damage at the location where the
damage occurred, informing the Customer of the damage and the telephone
number of the Company to call for follow-up.

C. Provide a written explanation to the Town of the circumstances, results of any
investigation, and disposition of the claim, within five (5) working days,

D. If the Customer submits a claim of damage to private property to the Company
the Company shall notify the Customer within ten (10) working days in writing of
the disposition of the claim and provide a copy to the Town. If the Company
assumes responsibility for the damages, the notification shall Include a date by
which remedial action will be completed.

E. The Company shall use its best efforts to promptly and expeditiously resolve
claims. In the event that the Company denies responsibility for damages and
the Customer pursues a remedy, the Town may investigate. If the Town
believes that the Company is responsible and the Company continues to deny
responsibility, the Town may request (and the Company shall present) evidence
to the Town supporting the Company’s denial, and a representative from the
Company and the Town Manager, or his designee, will meet and resolve the
claim. If the Company does not notify the Town of private property damages,
the Company shall pay Damages to the Town in the amount of $2,000.00 for
each failure to notify.

12. Accidents – The Company shall immediately notify by telephone, followed by immediate
electronic communication, the Town of all vehicular accidents caused in the
performance of the services provided herunder in which there is serious personal injury
or a fatality.

13. Uniforms – The Company shall at all times provide uniforms, with identification of
Company and employee, for all drivers and attendants.

14. Office – The Company shall maintain an office or such other facilities through which it
can be contacted. This office shall have a local telephone number at which the
Company can be reached and it shall be equipped with sufficient telephones and staff
and shall have responsible individuals in charge from 6:30 a.m. to 9:00 p.m. Eastern
Standard Time, on regular collection days. The responsible individuals shall be
knowledgeable about the collection requirements of the Town and shall be courteous
and responsive to all Customers. The Company may also provide a phone number
where the Company may be contacted at all other times. The phone number of the
Company's supervisor of operation must be supplied to the Town. During non-working
hours, the Company shall provide an answering machine, answering service, voice
mail, or other means by which a message from a Customer can be left with the
Company during non-business hours.

15. Drug Free Work Place – The Company shall establish and maintain a drug-free
workplace in connection with the performance of the services under this Contract.

16. Hauling – All collected materials hauled by the Company shall be so contained, tied or
enclosed so that leaking, spilling or blowing are prevented.



11

17. Disposal – All Garbage, Recyclable Material, White Goods and Yard Debris shall be
disposed in accordance with the rules and laws of the State of North Carolina. The
Company shall never comingle material in its collection vehicles collected within the
Town with material collected outside the corporate limits of the Town. The Company
shall be responsible for paying all landfill disposal charges.

18. Point of Contact – All dealings, contacts, etc., between the Company and the Town
shall be directed to the Company's local designee for Town contact and to the Town
Manager, or his/her designee.

19. Educational and Promotional Program – Except with regard to the Unacceptable Waste
education described below, the Company will be responsible for the education of the
Customers served under this Contract and for providing educational programs to any
group which may request such a program. The Company will share in the cost to design
and distribute the annual recycle collection calendar. Company will also advertise in the
Mtthews-Mint Hill Weekly regarding recycle collection calendar twice a year. Town
review and consent to any proposed program shall be required in advance.

20. Cart Maintenance and Upkeep – If the Company is notified within 48 hours of the
regularly scheduled collection day, then Company shall repair or replace these reported
broken or damaged Carts on the next regularly scheduled collection day. If Company is
notifed after 48 hours of the regularly scheduled collection day, then Company shall
repair or replace these reported broken or damaged Carts on the second regularly
scheduled collection day.

21. Compliance with Laws – The Company shall conduct operations under this Contract in
compliance with all applicable Federal, State, and Local laws and ordinances; provided,
however, this Contract shall govern the obligations of the Company. In the event that
the collection of any Garbage, Recyclable Materials, White Goods or Yard Debris, or
the disposal of Garbage or Yard Debris at a sanitary landfill, shall become restricted or
prohibited by any applicable law, rule or regulation, such item of Garbage or Recyclable
Material shall be suspended from this Contract.

22. Nondiscrimination – The Company shall not discriminate against any person because of
race, sex, age, creed, color, gender, religion or national origin and shall comply with all
applicable provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act. Any complaints of
discrimination against the Company must be fully investigated by Company's
management and if it involves a Customer, the report must be provided to the Town as
well.

23. Indemnity – The Company will indemnify and save harmless the Town, its officials,
agents, contractors, and employees from and against any and all suits, actions, legal
proceedings, claims, demands, damages, costs, expenses, and attorney's fees incurred
by its officials, agents, contractors and employees and caused by negligent acts or
omissions or willful misconduct of the Company or by the Company's breach of this
Contract. The Company shall not be liable for any suits, actions, legal proceedings,
claims, demands, damages, costs, expenses and attorneys' fees arising out of the
award of the Contract or the willful misconduct or negligent acts or omissions of the
Town, its officials, agents, contractors and employees.

24. Licenses and Taxes – The Company shall obtain all licenses and permits required to
perform this Contract and promptly pay all taxes owed by the Company to the Town,
State, the County.

25. Term – The Contract shall be for a term of seven (7) years beginning on July 1, 2016
and ending on June 30, 2023. This Contract will automatically renew for successive two
(2) year terms; provided that, this Contract may be terminated by either party at the end



12

any then current term by giving notice to the following via certified mail ninety (90) or
more days prior to the effective date of the expiration of the then current Contract term.

Town of Matthews
Attn: Town Manager

BFI Waste Services, LLC
Attn: General Manager
5105 Morehead Road
Concord, NC 28027

During the term of this Contract, the Company shall have the exclusive rights to provide
the Services of this Contract as identified in Section II above within the municipal
boundaries of the Town, including annexed areas during the term hereof.

26. Insurance – The Company shall at all times during the term of this Contract maintain in
full force and effect Employer's Liability, Workers’ Compensation, Public Liability and
Property Damage insurance, including contractual liability coverage and shall file
certificates of insurance reflecting such coverage on an annual basis with the Town.
The Town shall be listed as an additional insured on the Company's insurance
certificates. The required insurance coverage amounts are as follows:

Coverage Limits of Liability
Workers’ compensation Statutory
Employer’s Liability $5,000,000.00
Bodily Injury Liability except Automobile $5,000,000.00 each occurrence
Property Damage Liability except Automobile $5,000,000.00 each aggregate
Automobile Bodily Injury Liability $5,000,000.00 Combined Single

Limit
Automobile Property Damage Liability $5,000,000.00 each occurrence
Excess Umbrella Liability $10,000,000.00 each occurrence

To the extent permitted by law, all or any part of any required insurance coverages may
be provided under a plan or plans of self-insurance. The coverages may he provided by
the Company's parent corporation as approved by the Town.

27. Bond

A. Performance Bond
i. The Company shall furnish a corporate surety bond as security for the

performance of this Contract. Said surety bond must be in the amount of
100% of the annual Contract amount. Said surety bond’s amount must
be revised and a new bond furnished annually to reflect the current
annual Contract amount.

ii. The premium for the bond(s) described above shall be paid by the
Company. A certificate from the surety showing that the bond premiums
are paid in full shall accompany the bond.

i. The surety on the bond shall be duly authorized corporate surety
company authorized to do business in the State of North Carolina.

28. Power of Attorney – Attorneys-in-fact who sign performance bonds or Contract bonds
must file with each bond a certified and effectively dated copy of their power of attorney.

29. Termination

A. Should the Town determine, in its reasonable discretion, that the level and
quality of service being provided by the Company is inadequate, written notice



13

of the inadequacy shall be provided to the Company by the Town. Should the
Company fail to correct the inadequacy to the reasonable satisfaction of the
Town within thirty (30) days after delivery of the written notice then the Town
may cancel this Contract in its discretion by providing the Company three (3)
months’ notice of such termination.

B. Should the Company determine that the Town is in breach of contract or in
default of its contract provisions, written notice of the breach or default shall be
provided to the Town by the Company. Should the Town fail to correct the
breach or default within sixty (60) days after delivery of the written notice, then
the Company may cancel this Contract in its discretion by providing the Town
twelve (12) months’ notice of such termination.

C. In the case of early termination, the Town shall be allowed to make demand for
its Damages under the terms and provisions of the Performance Bond, in
addition to its other legal and equitable remedies that are available under the
laws of the United States and the State of North Carolina.

30. Basis and Method of Payment

A. Rates - For collection Services specified in Section III(1) above, the Company
shall charge the Town the rates as shown on Exhibit C. Rates will be paid on an
audited per Unit charge that is due twenty (20) days following the month of
service.

The Unit count in the final quarter of Fiscal Year 2016 (April-June 2016) for
billing to the Town under the previous Contract will be the starting-point basis
for billing by the Company for this Contract. Subsequent changes in the number
of Units, either through changes within the current Contract area or annexation
of new area shall be approved by the Town. The Company may also adjust the
unit count quarterly to accommodate new residents in new homes or
businesses upon approval from the Town. The Company shall transmit a list of
these additions to the Town along with the corresponding invoice. The
Company shall request changes in writing and the Town shall verify the Units. If
any location is in dispute the Town and the Company will investigate the
location and it will be finally determined by the Town. Changes in Unit numbers
will be approved no more frequently than on a quarterly basis.

B. Modification to Rates

i. The Company shall increase or decrease the rates for service effective
on each anniversary of the effective date of this Contract in an amount
equal to the percentage increases in the Consumer Price Index for All
Urban Consumers (CPI-U) – U.S. City Average, Water, Sewer and
Trash, as published by United States Department of Labor, Bureau of
Statistics (the “CPI”). Rates will be increased or decreased using the
month of February.

ii. Landfill Charges, Fees, Taxes: In addition to the foregoing, the rates
which may be charged by the Company may, from time to time be
increased or decreased, as the case may be, to reflect increases or
decreases in landfill charges; increases in Company's costs of operation
in the event that Garbage must be transported to an alternate disposal
site; or increases resulting from the imposition of, or any increase in, any
fees or taxes of any governmental authority, any changes in applicable
laws, rules or regulations of any governmental authority, or changes in
interpretation thereof that clearly affect operating costs.



14

iii. Other unusual changes: In addition, the Company may petition the Town
for a rate increase on the basis of other unusual changes in the
Company's cost of operations, including by example those resulting from
a significant increase in the area of service from growth or annexations
or required changes in the method of collection, by written request with
written justification and these must be approved by the Town, provided
that the Town will not withhold such approval unreasonably.

iv. The Company may request a fuel recovery adjustment in writing to the
Town for its approval, and the Town will not withhold its approval
unreasonably. The fuel recovery request shall be determined by the
Department of Energy's Weekly Retail on Highway Diesel Prices for the
"Lower Atlantic" ("DOE Price") over the base rate of $2.75 per gallon.

C. Company Billings to Town – The Company shall bill the Town within five (5)
days following the end of each month for services rendered. The Town shall
pay the Company on or before the 20th day following the end of the month to
which the bill relates. All bills shall be accompanied by a State and Local Sales
and Use Tax Statement, number of Units, any new Units and their service
addresses, weights and/or volumes of each material collected (i.e. Garbage,
Recyclable Materials by material, and Yard Debris), percent of participation for
Recyclable Materials Service, and year to date totals for the above. Billing shall
be based on the current number of Residential Units and Small Commercial
Units at the end of the billing cycle. Any added Units shall be submitted and
confirmed by the Town and certified by the Company (to include delivery of
Carts) before approval by the Town. Town approval of changed Unit numbers
will be on a quarterly basis.

31. Storm and Other Disasters – Notwithstanding any term of this Contract, the Company
shall not be liable for damages (or be held in breach or default) for its failure to perform
due to contingencies beyond its control including but not limited to strikes, riots,
flooding, terrorism, fires or acts of God (a “Force Majeure Event”). During any period
when performance of the Company’s obligation is prevented by a Force Majeure Event,
that obligation shall be suspended provided that the Company shall resume
performance as soon as reasonably possible upon cessation of the Force Majeure
Event. The Company shall notify the other party as soon as practical upon the
beginning and ending of the Force Majeure Event. If the Company is reasonably
willing or able to provide some level of the services during a period of a Force Majeure
Event, the Company’s reasonable performance under the circumstances shall be
sufficient, the Town shall grant the Company variances in routes and schedules as may
be deemed necessary by Company and agreed to by the Town, and partial
performance shall not be considered a breach of performance or event of default. If the
Company is required to incur additional expenses in performing its obligations during a
Force Majeure Event or thereafter as a result of damages caused by the Force Majeure
Event, then the Company may pass through those expenses to the Town, and the Town
shall reimburse the Company in accordance with this Contract.” The Services under
this Contract do not include the collection and disposal of any increased volume
resulting from a Force Majeure Event. The Town and the Company shall negotiate
mutually agreed-upon amounts to be paid to Company for any extra services to be
performed as a result of increased volumes resulting from unforeseen and extraordinary
events.

32. Assignment of Contract – The Contract shall not be assigned in whole or in part by the
Company without the express written consent of the Town, which consent shall not be
unreasonably withheld. Further, an assignment of the Contract shall not release the



15

Company from liability of its obligations and duties stated hereinunless agreed to in
writing by the Town.

33. Ownership; Unacceptable Waste – Title to all items collected under the terms of the
Contract that the Company has agreed to accept shall pass to the Company when
placed in the Company's collection vehicle, removed by the Company from a Cart, or
removed by Company from the Residential Unit or Small Commercial Unit, whichever
occurs first.

The Company shall not be required to collect, handle, transport, or dispose of
Unacceptable Waste, and the Company may reject the same in its sole discretion. The
Town shall not provide Unacceptable Waste to the Company for collection, transport, or
disposal. Upon request by the Company, any individual or entity who provides
Unacceptable Waste to the Company shall be required to remove the same from the
Company’s vehicle or premises immediately. Any individual or entity who provides
Unacceptable Waste to the Company shall be liable to the Company for the Company’s
damages and other costs incurred as a result of the same. Notwithstanding anything to
the contrary stated herein or otherwise, the Company may immediately remove any
Unacceptable Waste provided by such individual or entity at the expense of such
individual or entity, if such Unacceptable Waste creates an emergency condition or
negatively impacts the Company’s business or operations. The Company shall at no
time take title to such Unacceptable Waste even in removing it as provided in the
foregoing sentence. Title and Liability for Unacceptable Waste shall remain with the
Residential Unit or Small Commercial Unit that generated the Unacceptable Waste. The
Company shall notify the Town upon finding Unacceptable Waste in its Garbage.
The Town shall make reasonable efforts to (i) inform the public that Unacceptable Waste
is not to be provided to the Company, and (ii) cooperate with the Company in order to
identify any individuals or entities who provide Unacceptable Waste to the Company and
to collect (from such individual or entity) and remit to the Company an amount to
compensate the Company for its costs incurred in connection with such Unacceptable
Waste.

34. Miscellaneous Terms

A. The Company shall provide adequate supervision to assure that all work will be
done in accordance with these Contract terms and generally accepted
solidwaste disposal practices.

B. Except as otherwise provided herein, all work outside the express terms of the
Contract must have prior written approval by the Town. Charges for extra work
will be submitted to the Town for approval prior to the commencement of work.

C. The use of any subcontractor shall be subject to the prior, written approval of
the Town, which may be withheld for any reason. Subcontractor work is to be
considered only in exceptional circumstances.

D. This Contract shall be construed under and in accordance with the laws of the
State of North Carolina.

E. This Contract shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties
hereto and their respective heirs, executors, administrators, legal
representatives, successors and assigns where an assignment has been
permitted.

F. In the event that any one or more of the provisions contained in this Contract
shall for any reason be held to be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable in any
respect, on its face or as applied, such invalidity, illegality, or unenforceability



16

shall not affect any other provision thereof and this Contract shall be construed
as if such invalid, illegal, or unenforceable provision had never been contained
herein or modified if possible, consistent with the intent of the parties. The
remainder of the Contract shall not be affected thereby, and all other provisions
shall remain valid and enforceable. This Contract constitutes the sole and only
agreement of the parties hereto and supersedes any prior understandings or
written or oral agreements between theparties respecting the subject matter of
this Contract.

G. No failure or delay by either party to enforce any right or term herein shall
operate as a wavier thereof or as an on-going waiver, nor shall any partial
exercise thereof preclude any further exercise thereof or the exercise of any
other right, power, or privilege.

H. Time is of the essence for each and every part of this Contract.

I. The headings contained in this Contract are for convenience only and shall not
be part or affect the meaning or interpretation of this Contract.



EXHIBIT B - Certificate of Insurance 

 



 



 



18

EXHIBIT C – Rates for Services

Residential and Small Commercial Business Solid Waste:
one (1) – 96 Gallon Cart serviced once a week: $ 4.61 per cart.

Residential Back Door Solid Waste:
one (1) – 96 Gallon Cart serviced once a week: $ 5.11 per cart.

Residential and Small Commercial Business Recycling:
one (1) – 96 Gallon Cart serviced once a week: $ 2.70 per cart.

Residential Back Door Recycling:
one (1) – 96 Gallon Cart serviced once a week: $ 3.20 per cart.

Residential Yard Waste: $4.31 per unit.
serviced once per week

Residential Bulky Waste: $ 0.00 per unit.
serviced on an on-call basis

Downtown Area Decorative Containers
serviced twice per week: $ 12.20 per container



19

EXHIBIT D – Dumpster Service

Town Hall – 1 – 8 cubic yards

Crews Road Recreation Center – 1- 8 cubic yards

Public Works – 1 – 8 cubic yards

Community Center – 1 – 8 cubic yards

Matthews Fire Department, Station 1 – 6 cubic yards

Stump Town Park – 1 – 4 cubic yards

Squirrel Lake Park – 1 – 4 cubic yard

*Service Levels may change as needed for items on Exhibit D



  EXHIBIT E - Events / Festivals 

 

  Republic Services will participate in providing services for the annual Beach Festival, 

Matthews Alive, increase services for Food Truck Fridays and event boxes for other various 

Town activities 

 

 



EXHIBIT F - E-Verify 

 



EXHIBIT G - Iran Divestment Act 

 



23

EXHIBIT H – Liquidated Damages

I.22 Request of Service

1 to 10 each $200

11 to 20 each $300

21+ each $500

Per month when Missed >200 Lump Sum $5,000

I.21 Repeat Collection Misses

2nd and 3rd Miss each $500

4 or more Misses each $1,000

1.2 Area Misses

1 -100 Misses Lump Sum $2,000

>100 Misses each $20

IV.11 Property Damage/Accidents

Failure to Notify Town each $2,000

III.3 Roll-out Container Placement

1 to 5 each $200

6 to 10 each $300

11+ each $500

IV.9 Vehicle Leaks and Spills

Failure to Remove from Service each $3,000

Failure to Clean-up Spill each $1,500

1 to 5 leaks or spills/month each $1,000

6+ leaks of spills/month each $1,500
(These are cumulative/incident)

Care & Diligence/Littering

Failure to clean up litter & debris each $500

IV.8 Mixed Loads (Garbage and Recycling)

Per incident Lump Sum $1,000

Emergency Un-load Clean-up

For Each 2 delay after 2 hours each $500

Town provided clean-up each $2,000

IV.17 Delivery of Recycling to the Landfill

Each incident each $500

Town Provided Collection

Per incident each $500



EXHIBIT I - Performance Bond 





 

 
  
 
 
 
Hood Room Technology Upgrades 
      
TO:   Mayor and Board of Commissioners 
DATE:   May 19, 2016 
FROM:  Commissioner Christopher L. Melton 
 
 
Background/Issue:   
 
The current video equipment (project, screens, et cetera) has been installed and in place since the construction of 
Matthews Town Hall in 2001. During use of the room, the equipment is frequently unreliable; the image from the 
projector flickers, dims and becomes difficult to see. Even when working properly the image isn’t visible from all 
areas of the room. When the Town hosts public input meetings with multiple stations only once source of video is 
available.  
 
 
Proposal/Solution: 
 
In early April, Mayor Taylor asked Commissioners Melton and Miller, Town Clerk Lori Canapinno and Town IT 
Manager Wayne Cogdell to form a committee to review and recommend video/audio projection solutions for the 
Jordan and Hood rooms, including the lobby area.  
 
The committee met on several occasions and offered the following solution(s): 
 

1. Replace existing projector with new, 5000lm, full 1080p projector with HDMI input to include lamp with at 
least 4000-hour normal mode lamp life.  

2. Replace existing screen with new 12-14 foot, motorized screen, in existing location to accommodate 
aspect ratio and image quality of new projector. If possible, replace only screen. Motorized function of 
existing configuration works properly.  

3. Add two new televisions at rear of Hood Room, on opposing walls. TV’s to be minimum 60”, HDTV, LED 
type. TV’s should accept same input from projector and have an HDMI input at bottom of wall for auxiliary, 
independent input signal. Intent of television is to supplement and display same image as large screen. 

4. Add one new television in lobby to show same image as large screen and provide same audio signal as 
speakers in room. This is to serve as audio and video signal and satisfy intent of having lobby serve as an 
over-flow space.  
a. During non-meeting time, this television will display kiosk demo type presentation, similar to that 

being displayed at the Matthews Community Center. 
5. The two televisions in the rear of the Hood Room and one in the lobby should function independently or 

display the same signal. 
 
 
Fiscal Impact: 
 
Upon soliciting and receiving informal competitive bids, the committee selected the most responsible, apparent 
low bid of $41,782.37 from Simply Smart Technology. An add-alternate proposal was received to replace (12) 
gooseneck microphones for $179.00 each however, the committee does not recommend accepting this alternate.  
 
 



Related Town Goals:  
 
Communications:  to create an informed citizenry by providing relevant information about the town and enhancing 
two-way communications using traditional techniques and new technologies. 
 
 
Recommended Motion/Action:  
 
Direct the committee to engage Simply Smart Technology to finalize the prosed scope of work and negotiate 
financial terms of the agreement to perform the recommended audio/visual upgrades to the Hood Room.  

 
 
 
 
 

 



 
 
Town Hall AV Installation v1a BID#1045 Acceptance _______________    5/6/2016 
   Page 1 of 14
   

  Comfort and Convenience 

  Energy Monitoring and Management 

  Safety and Security 

  Entertainment and Lifestyle 

Electronics System Proposal 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

(COMMERCIAL DIVISION) 

www.SimplySmartTechnology.com 

(RESIDENTIAL DIVISION) 

www.HomeTechnologySolutions.com  

 

 

 

 

Town Hall AV Installation v1a 

 

 

Matthews Town Hall 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared by: 

Home Technology Solutions, Inc 

Rene Robaina 

Sales@HomeTechnologySolutions.com 

704-708-5126 

 

 

 

Date of Proposal:  May 6, 2016 

This proposal is valid for 15 days from above Date

http://www.simplysmarttechnology.com/
http://www.hometechnologysolutions.com/


 
 
Town Hall AV Installation v1a  
BID#1045 Acceptance _______________   5/6/2016 
  Page 2 of 14

  

  
 
Home Technology Solutions / Simply Smart Technology is a leading custom integrator specializing in state of the art 
Lifestyle, Entertainment, Comfort, Convenience, Safety, Security, and Energy Integrated Systems for both residential 
and commercial clients throughout North and South Carolina. 
 
Founded in 2001, for over 14 years HTS has provided our highly discriminating clients superior design, sales, 
installation and service.  At our design center located in Matthews, NC, on display are some of the latest products 
from companies like Marantz, Samsung, Control4, RTI, Klipsch, Sony and many others.  
 

HTS has installed countless systems over the past decade and our unparalleled attention to detail and quality in every 
step of the design and installation process is evident every time one of our systems is turned on.  HTS' work has been 
featured in countless publications including Urban Home Magazine, CEpro Magazine, Electronics House, Angie’s List, 
Matthews-Mint Hill magazine, and many others.  Further information about HTS may be found at our website,  
www.HomeTechnologySolutions.com and www.SimplySmartTechnology.com.  

  
 
When we opened our Matthews showroom in 2004, we were one of the first established Electronic Systems 
Contractors in the SE Charlotte area.  Since then, many of our competitors have come and gone, including large ones 
like Circuit City, Zobo, and Tweeter.  But we are still here!  Our philosophy has always been to be a part of the 
community, to get to know our customers who usually become customers for life, and to provide them the best 
quality solutions and systems for their money.  We test and certify every system we sell and install, in order to assure 
you, our customer, a reliable and simple to use system.  That’s our promise! 
 
This careful attention to detail does not come without a cost.  We are not the cheapest nor would we devalue our 
services by saying so.  We could choose to use inexpensive wire, cheap components, online purchased equipment, or 
even hire inexperienced labor, but we don’t.  We have attained numerous certifications in many different solutions 
and systems, and carry a North Carolina electrical license and North Carolina Alarm License, even if they may not be 
required for the system we may be installing in your home.  Our customers deserve that.  You deserve that!  We 
recognize you have a voice in choosing what’s best for you and we welcome the opportunity to serve you.  This is why 
we guarantee quality: because you deserve it.  You have our word on it!  

  
 
We realize selecting the right Electronic Systems Contractor for your home can be difficult. The wrong choice will stay 
with you long after the installation is complete with an audio/video, entertainment, or control system that is not easy 
to use.  Every company you approach will tell you that they are the best for your particular project, but how will you 
really know?  After many years of award-winning results and happy client testimonials, here are some points to 
consider when comparing companies: 
 
Value - A mistake some make is to assume the lowest price equals the best value.  This is almost never the reality.  HTS 
prides itself on delivering the best value for your hard-earned money, even when the proposed system(s) are not the 
lowest price compared to competing bids.  We will back up this claim with an objective review of any competing 
proposed system(s) and can point out the differences so you know what you are really getting.  There is no point in 
choosing the lowest bid and be left with a system that is so difficult to control it is never used.   “The bitterness of poor 
quality is remembered long after the sweetness of low price has faded from memory.” - Aldo Gucci 
 
Open Communication – HTS prides itself with having sales designers with a strong command of electronic systems 
technology, but we don't use complicated industry jargon when speaking with you. We understand it is not the audio-
video and integration components themselves you care about, but what they can do for you. Feel free to ask as many 

A B O U T  H O M E  T E C H N O L O G Y  S O L U T I O N S  /  S I M P L Y  S M A R T  T E C H N O L O G Y   

O U R  P H I L O S O P H Y   

W H Y  S H O U L D  I  H I R E  H O M E  T E C H N O L O G Y  S O L U T I O N S ?   

http://www.hometechnologysolutions.com/
http://www.simplysmarttechnology.com/


 
 
Town Hall AV Installation v1a  
BID#1045 Acceptance _______________   5/6/2016 
  Page 3 of 14

  

questions as you like; we want you to feel 100% comfortable with the decisions you will ultimately make about the 
electronic aspects of your home. 
 
Sensitivity to Budget – Nobody likes to be oversold!  We will specify solutions that are appropriate for your budget 
and performance expectations. We forge long-lasting, friendly relationships with our clients and are here to be your 
technology concierge, your helpful consultant. With the wide variety of brands we carry, within reasonable 
expectations we can engineer a system to fit your budget. 
 
Easy to Use – HTS designs home and business systems that are easy and intuitive to use.  Period! 
 
Expertise – HTS employs a small team but with very specialized design and engineering, project management, 
installation, programming, IT, and service experience.  HTS employs CEDIA certified engineers and installation staff. 
 
Design-Minded – HTS has years of experience with top architects, interior designers, and general contractors to 
seamlessly integrate electronics into your home or business. We commonly hide electronics and audio/video systems 
so they do not interfere with the décor of your home. With a specialized project management team, HTS proactively 
coordinates installation with many subcontractors for a more efficient installation with fewer change orders. 
 
Licensed and Insured – HTS carries a NC Electrical License (28593-SP/LV) and a NC Alarm License (2122-CSA).  HTS is all 
insured and bonded.  A copy of the insurance certificate can be found here:  
http://www.hometechnologysolutions.com/support/support_docs/  
 
Sticking to our Word – HTS proposals, like this one, are accurate and thorough from the beginning. Too many audio 
video installation companies entice you with an incomplete or unrealistic proposal at a low price to win your business, 
then proceed with many change orders later on that cost you considerably more than expected. We deliver on our 
budget! 
 
Reputation – This is the best part…  HTS currently holds the following: 

- Angie’s List Super Service Award (for 2012 and 2010) 
- Straight A’s with Angie’s List 
- Control4 Gold Dealer Award (for 2011 through 2015) 
- Straight FIVE stars on Service Magic 
- FIVE stars on Home Advisor 
- An A+ with the Better Business Bureau 
- And hundreds of testimonials  

 

  
 
We would like to thank you for the opportunity to bid on your installation.  Following you will find a very detailed 
proposal that covers all of the equipment and labor.  Please do not hesitate to contact us to discuss and make changes 
as required. 

Y O U R  P R O P O S A L   

http://www.cedia.org/
http://www.hometechnologysolutions.com/support/support_docs/


 
 
Town Hall AV Installation v1a BID#1045 Acceptance _______________    5/6/2016 
   Page 4 of 14
   

 

Home Technology Solutions, Inc System Design For 

2925 Senna Drive Suite 101 Matthews Town Hall 

Matthews, NC 28105 US  

(704) 708-5126  

 CSA-2122  

 

Town Hall AV Installation v1a 
 

 
 
SST will install a 65" LED TV on the wall in the lobby.  Display will be connected to the content being 

displayed in the auditorium.  Additionally, a local HDMI connection will provide the capability to 

display a local source. 

 

The display also has a USB connection on the side for local digital content from a USB stick. 

 

Entertainment & Lifestyle 

1 65-Inch 4K HDR Ultra HD TV (2016 model)   

 Sony XBR65X850D 
One of the most popular 4K TV screen sizes is 65". It's not easy to produce a picture that big with lifelike 
detail and depth and natural-looking colors, but Sony's 65" Ultra HD XBR-65X850D delivers every time you 
turn it on. The screen is built on a foundation of 8+ million pixels, and Sony's upgraded contrast and color 
technologies make every pixel work smarter. The result is a TV picture with serious pop. 

Infrastructure 

1 Strong™ Fixed Mount - 36-60in Flat-Panel TV (Blk)  

 Strong by SnapAV SM-F-L 
Strong™ Large Fixed Mount for 36-60 in. Flat-Panel TVs (Black) 

 

1 Binary™ Single CAT5e/6 HDBaseT Extender (230 ft.)  

 Binary by SnapAV B-500-EXT-230-RS 
Binary™ Single CAT 5e/6 HDMI Extender (230 ft), Bi-directional IR, RS 232 and POC 

 

 

  Area Labor & Equipment Total  $3,346.00 

 

 

 
 
SST will install two 80" LED displays on the back of the auditorium. 

 

Both displays will show the same content as the main screen.  And both displays will also have a 

local HDMI connection under the display. 

 

Entertainment & Lifestyle 

2 80" LED Display  

 Sharp LC-80UH30U 
With picture quality befitting a flagship model, everything you view on the AQUOS UH30 will look amazing, 
no matter the source—including streaming 4K UHD. See more vibrant and diverse color with 
SPECTROS™ Rich Color Display, which gives you a 21% wider color spectrum than conventional LED. 
With more shades of red and green, you experience more realistic landscapes, lush nature scenes and 
natural skin tones. 

Infrastructure 

LOBBY 

BACK ROOM 



 
 
Town Hall AV Installation v1a BID#1045 Acceptance _______________    5/6/2016 
   Page 5 of 14
   

 

2 Strong™ X-Large Fixed Mount for 55-70in TV (Black)  

 Strong by SnapAV SM-F-XL 
Strong™ X-Large Fixed Mount for Most 55-70 in. Flat-Panel TVs (Black) 

 

2 Binary™ Single CAT5e/6 HDBaseT Extender (230 ft.)  

 Binary by SnapAV B-500-EXT-230-RS 
Binary™ Single CAT 5e/6 HDMI Extender (230 ft), Bi-directional IR, RS 232 and POC 

 

 

  Area Labor & Equipment Total  $10,707.00 

 

 

 
 
SST will install a new 6k to 8k lummens laser projector and a new 216" motorized screen which will 

mount on the wall under the current motorized screen.  The client has the option of building a wood 

soffit or valance to cover the screen. 

 

The screen will be motorized to drop automatically when the projector is turned on. 

 

Entertainment & Lifestyle 

1 6,000 Lumens, WUXGA, single-chip DLP Laser Projector  

 Barco PGWU-62L 
Producing a noise level of just 35dB, the Barco laser phosphor projectors are the quietest laser phosphor 
projectors currently available.* Designed for fixed installation, the compact and lightweight PGWU-62L 
projector features WUXGA resolution (1,920 x 1,200). Its laser phosphor light source offers long lifetime, 
low maintenance (no lamps, no filters) and great color performance. 

 

1 G lens (1.52-2.92 : 1)  

 Barco R9832756 
 

 

1 216" Electric Motorized Projectiopn Screen  

 Vutec L1CA120-191PRW1PRW1 
Vutec Corporation is one of the world's leading video projection screen manufacturers. The company 
began blazing trails in the 1970s with the development of bright curved screens and maintained its 
vanguard position with a host of patented and patent-pending products including PrismaTec, a rear 
projection screen system, and a variety of motorized screens, including ceiling mounted, recessed and 
rising arm formats. 

Infrastructure 

2 Binary™ Single CAT5e/6 HDBaseT Extender (230 ft.)  

 Binary by SnapAV B-500-EXT-230-RS 
Binary™ Single CAT 5e/6 HDMI Extender (230 ft), Bi-directional IR, RS 232 and POC 

 

 

  Area Labor & Equipment Total  $24,136.16 

 

 

 
 
At the rack, SST will install the necessary splitters to send one local HDMI from a computer to the 

projector and all three other displays. 

 

Additionally, while in the rack, SST will clean up the existing rack and remove obsolete unneeded 

equipment. 

 

AUDITORIUM 

RACK SYSTEM 



 
 
Town Hall AV Installation v1a BID#1045 Acceptance _______________    5/6/2016 
   Page 6 of 14
   

 

Infrastructure 

1 Binary™ 1x4 HDMI Splitter Version 1.3  

 Binary by SnapAV B-220-HDSPLTR-1x4 
This product features HDMI 3D support with LED indicators and versatile mounting options. 

 

1 HDMI Audio DeEmbedder  

 Kramer FC-46XL 
The Kramer Electronics FC-46XL HDMI Audio De−Embedder de-embeds the audio signal from its HDMI 
input or from the HDMI output audio return channel and outputs the audio to S/PDIF, TOSLINK and stereo 
3.5mm simultaneously. 

 

 

  Area Labor & Equipment Total  $1,197.76 

 

 

 
 
OPTIONAL:  SST will replace the 12 current goose neck microphones. 

 

Entertainment & Lifestyle 

12 15.75" Flexible Gooseneck Condenser Microphone *  

 Sennheiser MEG 14-40 
OPTIONAL:  This microphones are NOT included in the proposal pricing.  Microphones are $179 each if 
you would like to include. 
 
The Sennheiser MEG 14-40 gooseneck microphone gives you the unobtrusive flexibility you need for 
lectures and seminars. A streamlined 15.75" gooseneck brings the MEG 14-40's condenser element close 
to your face, allowing you to maintain an upright posture while speaking directly into the microphone. The 
MEG 14-40 also features Sennheiser's high-performance KE10 microphone capsule. This capsule's 
cardioid pickup pattern provide excellent unidirectional reception while preventing off-axis noise from 
interfering with your presentations and keeping feedback at bay.  

 

 

  Area Labor & Equipment Total  $0.00 

 

 

 

 

Equipment Total $32,540.67 

Cable & Hardware $500.00 

Programming $50.00 

Installation Total $6,296.25 

Tax $2,395.45 

TOTAL $41,782.37 

AUDIO SYSTEM 

P R O J E C T  S U M M A R Y  



Town Hall AV Installation v1a BID#1045 5/6/2016   Page 7 of 14 

 

Product Details 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

65-Inch 4K HDR Ultra HD TV (2016 model)  XBR65X850D 
One of the most popular 4K TV screen sizes is 65". It's not easy to produce a picture that big with 

lifelike detail and depth and natural-looking colors, but Sony's 65" Ultra HD XBR-65X850D delivers 

every time you turn it on. The screen is built on a foundation of 8+ million pixels, and Sony's 

upgraded contrast and color technologies make every pixel work smarter. The result is a TV 

picture with serious pop. Error! Hyperlink reference not valid. 

Dimensions:    

 

Strong™ Fixed Mount - 36-60in Flat-Panel TV (Blk) SM-F-L 
Strong™ Large Fixed Mount for 36-60 in. Flat-Panel TVs (Black) http://www.snapav.com/p-588-

SM-F-L.aspx 

Dimensions:    

 

80" LED Display LC-80UH30U 
With picture quality befitting a flagship model, everything you view on the AQUOS UH30 will look 

amazing, no matter the source—including streaming 4K UHD. See more vibrant and diverse 

color with SPECTROS™ Rich Color Display, which gives you a 21% wider color spectrum than 

conventional LED. With more shades of red and green, you experience more realistic 

landscapes, lush nature scenes and natural skin tones. Error! Hyperlink reference not valid. 

Dimensions:    

 

Strong™ X-Large Fixed Mount for 55-70in TV (Black) SM-F-XL 
Strong™ X-Large Fixed Mount for Most 55-70 in. Flat-Panel TVs (Black) 

http://www.snapav.com/p-658-SM-F-XL.aspx 

Dimensions:    

 

6,000 Lumens, WUXGA, single-chip DLP Laser Projector PGWU-62L 
Producing a noise level of just 35dB, the Barco laser phosphor projectors are the quietest laser 

phosphor projectors currently available.* Designed for fixed installation, the compact and 

lightweight PGWU-62L projector features WUXGA resolution (1,920 x 1,200). Its laser phosphor light 

source offers long lifetime, low maintenance (no lamps, no filters) and great color performance. 

Error! Hyperlink reference not valid. 

Dimensions:    

 

G lens (1.52-2.92 : 1) R9832756 
 Error! Hyperlink reference not valid. 

Dimensions:    

 

216" Electric Motorized Projectiopn Screen L1CA120-191PRW1PRW1 
Vutec Corporation is one of the world's leading video projection screen manufacturers. The 

company began blazing trails in the 1970s with the development of bright curved screens and 

maintained its vanguard position with a host of patented and patent-pending products 

including PrismaTec, a rear projection screen system, and a variety of motorized screens, 

including ceiling mounted, recessed and rising arm formats. Error! Hyperlink reference not valid. 

Dimensions:    

http://www.snapav.com/p-588-SM-F-L.aspx
http://www.snapav.com/p-588-SM-F-L.aspx
http://www.snapav.com/p-658-SM-F-XL.aspx


Town Hall AV Installation v1a BID#1045 5/6/2016   Page 8 of 14 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Binary™ Single CAT5e/6 HDBaseT Extender (230 ft.) B-500-EXT-230-RS 
Binary™ Single CAT 5e/6 HDMI Extender (230 ft), Bi-directional IR, RS 232 and POC 

http://www.snapav.com/p-1326-B-500-EXT-230-RS.aspx 

Dimensions: -w -h -d 

 

Binary™ 1x4 HDMI Splitter Version 1.3 B-220-HDSPLTR-1x4 
This product features HDMI 3D support with LED indicators and versatile mounting options. 

http://www.snapav.com/p-1260-B-220-HDSPLTR-1x4.aspx 

Dimensions: -w -h -d 

 

HDMI Audio DeEmbedder FC-46XL 
The Kramer Electronics FC-46XL HDMI Audio De−Embedder de-embeds the audio signal from its 

HDMI input or from the HDMI output audio return channel and outputs the audio to S/PDIF, 

TOSLINK and stereo 3.5mm simultaneously. Error! Hyperlink reference not valid. 

Dimensions:    

 

15.75" Flexible Gooseneck Condenser Microphone * MEG 14-40 
OPTIONAL:  This microphones are NOT included in the proposal pricing.  Microphones are $179 

each if you would like to include. 

 

The Sennheiser MEG 14-40 gooseneck microphone gives you the unobtrusive flexibility you need 

for lectures and seminars. A streamlined 15.75" gooseneck brings the MEG 14-40's condenser 

element close to your face, allowing you to maintain an upright posture while speaking directly 

into the microphone. The MEG 14-40 also features Sennheiser's high-performance KE10 

microphone capsule. This capsule's cardioid pickup pattern provide excellent unidirectional 

reception while preventing off-axis noise from interfering with your presentations and keeping 

feedback at bay.  Error! Hyperlink reference not valid. 

Dimensions:    

http://www.snapav.com/p-1326-B-500-EXT-230-RS.aspx
http://www.snapav.com/p-1260-B-220-HDSPLTR-1x4.aspx


 
 
Town Hall AV Installation v1a  
BID#1045 Acceptance _______________   5/6/2016 
  Page 9 of 14

  

  
 
If the cost and scope of this proposal are acceptable, please initial all pages of this agreement and sign and date the 
last page.  Return a copy of all pages of this agreement to the address, fax, or email listed on the signature page.   This 
signed document will constitute the contract for HTS to order your components and invoice for the deposit or retainer 
as specified herein.  The deposit/retainer required would be a percentage of the total amount above and due upon 
acceptance and signing of this agreement.  Refer to the Terms section of this agreement for an explanation of 
applicable terms.  The remainder of the balance would be invoiced as specified in the payment terms section of this 
agreement.  The final balance would be due upon system completion.   Terms are net upon presentation of invoice. 
 
Thank you for the opportunity to prepare this proposal for you.  Please contact your salesperson if you have any 
questions regarding any aspect of this proposal.  We hope you will sign this proposal in which event HTS and you will 
have an agreement. 

  
 
Excluding all New Construction projects where the job will progress in stages during construction, the following 
terms apply: 

 10% of the total contract amount PLUS 100% of the System Design fee, if applicable from above, is DUE with 
the signing of this agreement 

 100% of all Components and/or Equipment, or 50% of total contract, whichever is larger, is DUE PRIOR to 
ordering of equipment 

 All remaining charges equaling 90% of the total contract amount is DUE PRIOR to final installation 

 Balance (10%) is DUE upon substantial completion of the installation 
 
For New Construction projects or other projects where the job will progress in stages, the following terms apply: 

 10% of the total contract amount PLUS 100% of the System Design fee, if applicable from above, is DUE with 
the signing of this agreement 

 25% of the total contract amount is DUE 30 days PRIOR to Rough-in Wiring 

 45% of the total contract amount is DUE 60 days PRIOR to Trim-out Installation 

 15% of the total contract amount is DUE 60 days PRIOR to The Final Installation 

 Balance (5%) is DUE upon substantial completion of the installation 
 
NOTES:   

 Some exceptions to the above TERMS may be made in certain situations. 

 All payments are invoiced and DUE as explained above on the date of the invoice.  These are not NET terms 
except if previously agreed in writing or documented herein.  Payment is due as and when indicated above. 

 Any change orders after the signing of this contract, are payable 90% upfront prior to equipment being 
ordered and/or work commencing. 

 

 

Home Technology Solutions accepts personal checks, company checks, money orders, most major credit cards, and 
PayPal®.  If using checks there is a $35.00 return check fee if a check is returned unpaid for any reason.  If using a 
credit card, Home Technology Solutions retains the right to automatically charge past due invoices to any credit card 
used previously if an invoice remains unpaid for more 15 days from due date. 

  
 
This proposal is a complete package, including design, wiring, equipment, installation, and coordination of plans with 
architects, builders, decorators, electricians, and cabinetmakers.  Home Technology Solutions, Inc. assumes no 

A C C E P T A N C E   

T E R M S   

P A Y M E N T  T Y P E S  A C C E P T E D   

C O N D I T I O N S   



 
 
Town Hall AV Installation v1a  
BID#1045 Acceptance _______________   5/6/2016 
  Page 10 of 14

  

responsibility for damages, either direct or consequential that may result from accidents associated with the design, 
installation and operation any of the systems listed herein.  
 
Unless otherwise specified, this proposal is valid for 15 days from the date on the cover page.  However, if Sony or 
Samsung products (including, but not limited to TVs), the price of these items are valid ONLY for the week ending the 
Friday following the date of the proposal.  Sony and Samsung pricing can change weekly.  Home Technology Solutions 
cannot provide refunds for price changes on Sony or Samsung equipment after the signing of this proposal. 
 
After the proposal is signed, any changes to this agreement will be handled with change orders and will be submitted 
in writing for approval. 
 
If/when change orders are written, the terms for all change orders is 90% payable with the signing of the change 
order.  In some cases a change order can cause delays to the project, additional installation fees, and additional design 
and programming fees. 
 
Responsibilities of others.  Rough-in of basic Cable TV (CATV) wiring is only included as shown.  Line and high voltage 
electrical wiring and cabinetry are to be supplied by others, unless expressly specified otherwise in a writing signed by 
HTS and customer.  Cable TV service connection shall be done by others.  Any “pre-wire only” locations do not include 
termination of wiring or wall outlets except a blank plate.  Cabinetry must be adequate to fit this equipment and 
drawings must be submitted for our approval.  Media cabinets must provide adequate ventilation to dissipate the heat 
of electronic equipment.  In some cases, quiet fans may be needed for ventilation at additional charges.  Any conduits 
or trenching required to bury outdoor cabling (including Satellite and Cable Company wiring) are not included and will 
be provided by others, unless expressly specified otherwise in a writing signed by HTS and customer. 
 
Electronics manufacturers regularly update their product offerings.  In our efforts to provide you with the very latest 
technology, we reserve the right to substitute the most up to date models available at the time of installation.  

  
 
Standard Warranty. Subject to the Terms and Conditions set forth herein, the provisions of this Contract’s Warranty 
provides coverage against failure of HTS’ installation commencing at 12:01 a.m. on the date the final installation is 
completed and ending at 12:01 a.m. ninety (90) days thereafter, unless this installation is covered under a Client Care 
Agreement (see “Client Care Agreement” in Appendix “A” below).  This Warranty provides coverage only for the 
Services the services/installation provided by HTS.  All products and components installed by Home Technology 
Solutions have a separate manufacturer Warranty and this Service Warranty is not an extension of the manufacturer 
product Warranty.  Product manufacturer warranties vary by product from one year to lifetime.  HTS is not 
responsible for any fault of others or any Acts of God.  HTS is also not responsible for any warranty if customer has not 
paid as agreed herein including the final payment due upon installation being substantially complete.   
  
Equipment Extended Warranty.  For certain installations and packages HTS may recommend an equipment extended 
warranty that will provide additional replacement and repair protection for certain components.  This extended 
warranty is provided by a third party and covers the equipment/electronics.  Refer to the terms and conditions of that 
warranty for additional information on its coverage and pricing. 
 
Client Care Program (Appendix A).  If selected, with an annual agreement, HTS will provide (and strongly recommend 
in most cases) options for long-term support of the installations performed.  Client Care packages range from a basic 
warranty past the standard 90-days to; enhanced ongoing preventive maintenance, remote support, after-hours 
support, pre-paid labor, discounted equipment purchases, firmware and software maintenance and much more.  The 
Client Care Agreement options are priced on a percentage (%) of the total contract amount.  Refer to the Client Care 
Agreement information on Appendix “A” of this document.  The Client Care Agreement price is based on the total 
contract amount of this proposal $41,782.37, plus any and all change orders going forward.  
 

W A R R A N T I E S ,  S E R V I C E ,  A N D  M I S C E L L A N E O U S  C O N T R A C T  T E R M S   



 
 
Town Hall AV Installation v1a  
BID#1045 Acceptance _______________   5/6/2016 
  Page 11 of 14

  

Governing Law and Forum. The validity, construction and effect of this agreement shall be governed by the laws of 
the state of North Carolina, and HTS and customer hereby consent to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of the 
state of North Carolina for resolution of any dispute arising hereunder. 
 
Default; Remedies. In the event of a default hereunder by HTS or customer, each shall have those remedies allowed 
under the applicable governing law. 
 
Assignment. This agreement shall inure to the benefit of, and shall be binding upon, the respective successors of HTS 
and customer; provided, however, that neither this agreement nor any interest herein shall be assigned, assumed or 
transferred by HTS or by customer without the prior written consent of both of them. 
 
Entire Agreement; Modification. This agreement constitutes the entire and complete agreement between the parties 
hereto and supersedes any prior oral or written agreement between the parties except as subsequently executed in 
writing by the parties hereto pursuant to this paragraph.  It is expressly agreed that there are no verbal 
understandings or agreements which in anyway change the terms, covenants and conditions herein set forth, and that 
no modification of this agreement and no waiver of any of its terms and conditions shall be effective unless made in 
writing and duly executed by the parties hereto. 
 

 

  
I accept this proposal and all terms and conditions herein.  I authorize the work to be done and accept responsibility 
for payments due as listed above: 
 
 
 
______________________________________________  ________________________________________ 
Client Signature      Authorized Representative 
       Home Technology Solutions 
 
___________________________________    ______________________________________ 
Date       Date 
 
 
______________________________________________  Home Technology Solutions 
Print Name      2925 Senna Drive 
       Suite 101 
       Matthews, NC  28105 
___________________________________    704.708.5126 (main office) 
Phone Number      704.708.5127 (fax) 
       Sales@HomeTechnologySolutions.com    
 

 
 
 
If payment will be the responsibility of a builder, contractor, or other third party, the following signatures and 
information are also required. 
 
 
______________________________________________ 
Authorized Representative 
 
 
______________________________________________ 
Name and Address 
 
______________________________________________ 
 
______________________________________________

A C C E P T A N C E  O F  P R O P O S A L   



 
 
Town Hall AV Installation v1a  
BID#1045 Acceptance _______________   5/6/2016 
  Page 12 of 14

  

 

  
I. AGREEMENT: 
This Client Care Agreement is an elective option which provides on-going support and preventive maintenance service 
for your installed system.  It is offered to clients as part of a new installation at a fixed price for one or more years of 
coverage.  If selected, it provides all or some of the following services (depending on agreement option selected): 

 Ongoing support and maintenance of the installation 

 Pre-paid discounted labor for adjustments, tweaks, or system enhancements 

 Scheduled and on-request Preventive Maintenance visits 

 After hours and weekend support 

 Much more 
 
For additional information and detailed terms and conditions on this Client Care Agreement, please visit 
http://www.hometechnologysolutions.com/support/support_docs/  
 

II. CLIENT CARE AGREEMENT COMPARISON: 

Services Sub-Services Description Standard Basic Enhanced Premier 

Preventative 
Maintenance 

CVAC 
Cleaning 
(note 3) 

Cleaning of Central Vacuum 
System and piping with 

TornadoPower™. 

  

O
n

ce
 p

er
 y

ea
r 

2
 T

im
es

 p
er

 y
ea

r 

4
 t

im
es

 p
er

 y
ea

r 

Audio/Video 
Calibration 

Recalibrate any audio or 
video of the system that is 

supported by HTS. 

TV Screen 
Cleaning 

Wipe down and clean all TV 
screens and touchscreens 

with CLEANSCREEN™. 

Test All 
Programing 

Test all programming and 
all buttons to ensure 

everything is still working 
as installed. 

Re-Adhere 
Items 

Re-adhere any emitters, 
antennas or IR-blocks that 

may have come loose. 

Replace 
Batteries 
(note 4) 

Replace any disposable 
batteries in remotes, blinds 

or any items installed by 
HTS. 

      

Firmware 
Updates 

Update firmware on any 
HTS supplied components.       

Remote 
Management1 

Auto Reboots 
Set system to auto reboot 
certain devices based on 

specific scenarios. 
      

Manual 
Reboots 

Reboot certain devices 
manually if operation of 

device has failed. 
       

System 
Monitoring 

Monitor system 
performance and any 

power failures. 
      

                                                           
1 Remote Management, automated, and system reboots may require installing or upgrading certain smart power and 
network components in the system which may not currently included in this proposal.  If client is interested in this 
feature of the Client Care, please contact HTS for more information. 

A P P E N D I X  A :   A N N U A L  C L I E N T  C A R E  A G R E E M E N T   

http://www.hometechnologysolutions.com/support/support_docs/


 
 
Town Hall AV Installation v1a  
BID#1045 Acceptance _______________   5/6/2016 
  Page 13 of 14

  

System 
Logging 

Keep records of any 
failures in the system and 
provide a quarterly report 

to the client. 

      

Services Sub-Services Description Standard Basic Enhanced Premier 

On-Site 
Support 

Within 1 
Week 

Come out to the home 
within 1 week of phone 

call.     

Within 2 
Business 

Days 

Come out to the home 
within 2 business days of 

phone call. 
       

Phone 
Support 

Monday-
Friday (8:00-

5:00) 

Phone support available 
Monday-Friday during 
normal business hours.     

Saturday-
Sunday (8:00-

5:00) 

Phone support available 
Saturday and Sunday from 

8:00-5:00. 
       

Prepaid Labor Prepaid 
Labor 

Set amount of labor hours 
given to client for their 

preference.  
    2 Hours 5 Hours 

Support 
Services 

Defective 
Equipment 

Support 

Replacement of equipment 
because of defect.     

Equipment 
Discounts 

Discount On 
Replacement 
Equipment 

Discount on replacement 
equipment.   3% 5% 10% 

Labor Rate 
Labor Rate 

going 
forward 

During agreement period, 
labor rate to additional 

work. 
$105  $95  $90  $85  

Transferable 
To New 

Homeowner 
If Home Is 

Sold 

Client Care 
Program 

transferable 
to new 

homeowner 
if home is 

sold. 

Client Care Program 
transferable to new 

homeowner if home is sold. 
      

Security 
Monitoring 

Security 
Monitoring 

Discounted cost on 
monthly security 

monitoring charges2 
    10% 20% 

Control4 
4Sight 

Control4 
4Sight Control4 4Sight license3 

       

   Standard Basic Enhanced Premier 

Annual Price (% of total Contract Amount) 2% 3% 5% 7% 

Installation Contract Amount $41,782.37 $41,782.37 $41,782.37 $41,782.37 

Annual Cost of Client Care Agreement  
(if paid upfront) 

$ 835.65 $1,253.47 $2,089.12 $2,924.77 

Down Payment (if paid in monthly installments) $ 170.47 $ 258.22 $ 438.72 $ 625.90 

10 Monthly Installments $  68.46 $ 103.91 $ 177.24 $ 253.87 

 
 

                                                           
2 Security monitoring discount requires a monitored security system from HTS. 
3 Control4 4Sight license requires a Control4 system.  



 
 
Town Hall AV Installation v1a  
BID#1045 Acceptance _______________   5/6/2016 
  Page 14 of 14

  

 

  
Please initial acceptance or rejection of the following options acknowledging your selection of this client care 
agreement.  If accepting, please enter the agreement selection (Standard, Basic, Enhanced, or Premier) you are 
accepting. 
 
 
___________  I would like to select the _____________________ (STANDARD, BASIC, ENHANCED, or PREMIER) Client 

Care Agreement for  _________ year(s) from the date of installation.   

 I would prefer to pay the Client Care Agreement in (Select one): 

____ FULL AMOUNT UP FRONT 

____ DOWN PAYMENT plus 10 MONTHLY INSTALLMENTS 

 
___________  I am not interested in signing up for a Client Care Agreement at this time.  I understand that although all 

of the equipment sold and installed as part of this proposal carries a manufacturer warranty which 
ranges from a minimum of 1 year to lifetime warranty, the Home Technology Solutions installation is 
only warranted for 90 days from the date of installation.  Any service calls, training requirements, or 
other services requested from Home Technology Solutions after 90 days will incur normal service 
charges. 

 
 
EFFECTIVE DATE:   
This Client Care Agreement, if selected, will be effective the day of final installation and will be inforce, unless 
cancelled, for the number of years selected above. 

 
PRICING and DEPOSIT 
The Client Care Agreement is invoiced as follows.  A 20% deposit (of the total Agreement Price selected) will be 
invoiced along with the final invoice for installation.  The remaining balance will be invoiced in equal 10 monthly 
installments during the length of the agreement. 
 

ACCEPTANCE: 
Your signature below indicates your acceptance of the extended Client Care Agreement and the terms and 
conditions located at http://www.hometechnologysolutions.com/support/support_docs/  
 
 
 
 
______________________________________________ 
Client Signature 
 
 
 
___________________________________  
Date 
 

 

C L I E N T  C A R E  A C C E P T A N C E   

http://www.hometechnologysolutions.com/support/support_docs/


 2016 PLANNING CONFERENCE TO-DO LIST

1

# ITEM ASSIGNED DUE DATE NOTES
8 Inventory Fire/EMS vehicles DG 4/30/2016 Dennis is out of town the week of 5/16. I do not have the information.
9 Provide maintenance costs for fire vehicles that we want replaced to TB DG 4/30/2016 Dennis is out of town the week of 5/16. I do not have the information.

10
Supply detailed South Trade Street budget to TB. Detail what funds were reimbursed back to town after bonds were 
sold. CT 4/30/2016 Hazen, Chris and CJ are meeting Thursday, 5/19 to review line-items. 

11 Clarify library’s responsibilities for building maintenance or look into rent payments after lease expiration HB 4/30/2016 Charlie Buckley is working with Meck. County library staff to clarify lease.
12 Investigate contracting a grant writer position BH 4/30/2016 Becky is preparing a memo on the need for a grant writer.

13
5:30 meeting with Buzz to discuss gateway signage; brainstorm new concepts; staff/Buzz will re-evaluate locations 
(show street view of each) JT 4/30/2016 Town Board met with Buzz Bizzell on April 11th. Buzz to provide options for gateway signs.

14 Provide list of major capital equipment needs to TB CT 4/30/2016 Compiling this list is more comprehensive than expected. Staff is requesting an extension to 7/31. 
16 Try to secure first right of refusal for downtown property, pursue purchase of adjacent property HB 4/30/2016 Hazen is working with the property owners to secure a purchase price for the property.
17 Start posting completed to do list/year end accomplishments on website. “State of the Town” report. JT 5/30/2016
18 Pursue diversity and sensitivity training for all town staff. BH 5/30/2016

19
Obtain cost estimates of selected pilot projects in Downtown Streetscape Plan (some may have good/better/best 
options) and include a couple pilot projects in the CIP. KI 6/30/2016

20 Proposed replacement schedule for fire vehicles DG 6/30/2016
21 Consider paying for CAFS and pumper - order in FY 17 and pay in FY 18 DG 6/30/2016
22 Bring proposal back to board focusing on preservation and preventative maintenance of roads CJO 6/30/2016
23 Continue to ID potential park properties through town CK 6/30/2016
24 CJ to investigate McKee A point ranking – would ranking improve if Matthews offered funds? CJO 6/30/2016
25 Ensure employee recruiting and screening practices are inclusive in nature BH 6/30/2016
26 Review consultant costs over last three years BH 6/30/2016

27
Downtown Streetscape Plan: review shall vs. should issue. Communicate with Transportation Advisory Committee. Add 
sections delineating required vs. suggested components KI 6/30/2016

28 Charlie to investigate possible penalties for infractions of tree protection ordinance CB 6/30/2016

29
Evaluate options for consultant/staff to organize community meeting to update vision statements. After community 
input staff will re-evaluate goals and strategies. BH 6/30/2016

30 Update a/v for Hood Room prior to 6/30 (3 companies) LC 6/30/2016
31 Sportsplex informational kiosk: approach County to create opportunity, then hand off CK 6/30/2016
32 Investigate economic development liaison – Jay/Becky BH 6/30/2016
33 Draft resolution promoting equity and inclusion BH 6/30/2016
34 Reevaluate the community meeting process for park planning. CK 6/30/2016
35 Revise technology allowance from $3,500 to $3,600 per two year term - start July 1, 2016. HB 6/30/2016
36 Update Personnel Policy BH 9/30/2016

37
What’s the gap between our current funding model and what we actually need to properly maintain roads. Investigate 
town/regional asphalt production. CJO 9/30/2016

38 Hold Town Hall-style meeting for public – “Let’s Talk Traffic” – with DOT in attendance HB 9/30/2016

39
Evaluate redundancies/distribution of responsibilities between Red Brick Partnership/EDAC/Quad/and the Chamber of 
Commerce HB 9/30/2016

40 Look at parks & rec master plan; potentially have Park & Rec Advisory Committee work on updates CK 9/30/2016
41 Complete installation of mural at Town Hall wall CK 9/30/2016



 2016 PLANNING CONFERENCE TO-DO LIST

2

# ITEM ASSIGNED DUE DATE NOTES

42

Provide pending project tree save data, and background on other communities' tree canopy/tree preservation efforts 
to Appearance and Tree Board for them to discuss current code requirments and Town expectations on tree 
protection; A&T Committee to recommend new policy, goals, implementation tactics. Identify tree species and 
location. KI/CJO 9/30/2016

43
Start discussions with Lat Purser regarding parklet/active seating area in parking space in front of Dilworth Coffee – get 
design and preliminary costs KI 9/30/2016

44 Rob to work with CMS on traffic flow at Matthews Elementary RH 9/30/2016

45
Trend line out revenues projections – use actual revenues from 3-5 year trend line to prepare revenue estimates

CT 9/30/2016
46 Work with private developers to develop pocket park opportunities, especially downtown CK 9/30/2016
47 Corey to provide list of underserved areas in need of park facilities CK 9/30/2016
48 Pursue regional grant and use opportunities for smokehouse trailer DG 12/31/2016
49 Explore joint facility for Fire/EMS training facility with all area departments DG 12/31/2016
50 Price Crestdale Road widening and evaluate feasibility CJO 12/31/2016
51 Communicate Independence Blvd./ US 74 project plans/ impacts to area businesses and residents JT 12/31/2016

52
Receive Outen Pottery Task Force recommendation about site usage; prepare cost estimates, timeline and budget for 
site work to create it a neighborhood park CK 12/31/2016 Clarified and reworded

53 Revise plan for Pleasant Plains Road  - change bike lane to multiuse path CJO 2017 Review process for applications will begin again in 2017
54 Review concept of West John Street area historical district   KI ?

55
Talbot Court – send letter to residents of neighborhood to inform them of progress. Come back to Board to discuss 
traffic warrant study some time (12 + months) after opening of street; consider impact of new ACTS traffic light HB Ongoing Letter sent to neighborhood March 17

56 Look into used or lease equipment opportunities for Public Works CJO Ongoing

57
When preparing agenda items, think of how the visual looks on the screen. 11x17 or landscape is difficult to see.

LC Ongoing
58 Explore options/possibilities for Town to create independent school system HB Ongoing

1 Confirm revaluation schedule with Assessor’s office CT Complete Due 4/30/16; Next county revaluation scheduled for 2019
2 Inquire if insurance will cover town hall roof repair HB Complete Due 4/30/16; Received $11,000 check from insurance company
3 Corey to confirm exact measurement of Four Mile Creek greenway segment CK Complete Due 4/30/16; Exact greenway length is 2.25 miles

4
Collect and report on Fullwood Station specifics to Town Board: a) tree preservation calculations; b) location of 
preserved trees on the site; c) whether there is a SWIM buffer violation. KI Complete Due 4/30/16; Clarified and reworded; report sent to Board and discussed at March 14 meeting

5 Adopt legislative priorities at next TB meeting HB Complete Due 4/30/16; Adopted by Board at March 14 meeting

6
Recognize Martin Luther King Day beginning in 2017, revise floating days from 2 to 1. Official action at next board 
meeting. BH Complete Due 4/30/16; Approved by Board at March 28 meeting

7 Review new website at 5:30 meeting on March 14. Go live goal after TB has thoroughly reviewed entire site. JT Complete Due 4/30/16; Website went live on April 1
15 Add monitor/system to Jordan Room LC Complete Due 4/30/16; installed April 22

COMPLETED ITEMS



 

 

 
 
GFOA Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting 1998-Present. 

                                   

 
May 18, 2016 
 
To: Honorable Mayor and Board of Commissioners 
 
From: Christopher Tucker, Finance Director 
 
CC: Hazen Blodgett, Town Manager 
 Becky Hawke, Assistant Town Manager 
 Lori Canapinno, Town Clerk 
 
RE: Monthly Financial Report 
 
 
Please find attached for your review the Monthly Financial Summary for Fiscal Year Ending 2016 through April 
2016. 
 
Staff will be on hand at the Monday meeting to address any questions or concerns.  
 
Items of Note: 

1) No significant changes to either the revenue or expenditure paces through April. The resulting 
projection would add about $250,000 to General Fund Fund Balance. However, per Board directive at 
the May 9 meeting, you have authorized the improvements to the Police Department which will come 
from this projected surplus.  

2) Communications from the Tax Assessor’s office provided a remaining potential re-eval refund total of 
close to $30,000 from 500 appeals.  

3) Communications from the Tax Collector’s office provided that of the 20 Oscar Drive property owners, 7 
paid in full, 6 made their annual payment, and 7 did not pay and have moved into the collection 
process. 

 



fye 2016 fye 2016 fye 2016 THREE fye 2015 fye2014 fye 2013

GENERAL FUND BUDGET BUDGET ACTUAL % of fye 2016 VARIANCE ($) VARIANCE (%) YEAR % of % of % of

(ORIGINAL) (AMENDED) Period 10 / 12 BUDGET PROJECTED FROM BUDGET FROM BUDGET AVERAGE BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET

REVENUES

Ad Valorem Taxes 12,058,000$   12,058,000$   11,246,940$     93.27% 11,664,000$        (394,000)$            -3.38% 97.59% 95.85% 100.33% 96.59%

Local Option Sales Taxes 2,781,078$     2,781,078$     1,874,874$       67.42% 2,800,000$          18,922$               0.68% 68.23% 73.39% 70.40% 60.89%

Unrestricted Intergovernmental 2,132,615$     2,132,615$     1,203,050$       56.41% 2,312,389$          179,774$             7.77% 53.74% 60.76% 51.23% 49.23%

Powell Bill 760,000$        760,000$        772,343$          101.62% 772,343$             12,343$               1.60% 99.82% 99.93% 100.00% 99.54%

Other Restricted Intergovernmental 447,000$        447,000$        38,531$            8.62% 467,000$             20,000$               4.28% 6.19% 4.87% 5.98% 7.71%

Restricted / Committed to Public Safety 584,523$        690,756$        511,368$          74.03% 667,775$             (22,981)$              -3.44% 77.78% 75.62% 85.49% 72.24%

Stormwater Fees / Penalties 600,000$        600,000$        454,397$          75.73% 575,000$             (25,000)$              -4.35% 73.28% 71.89% 70.83% 77.13%

Recreation Revenues 330,000$        330,000$        371,153$          112.47% 445,384$             115,384$             25.91% 109.32% 121.78% 106.19% 99.99%

Permits and Fees 57,000$          57,000$          46,430$            81.46% 57,000$               -$                    0.00% 63.09% 24.73% 83.66% 80.87%

Investment Earnings -$                -$                17,173$            18,000$               18,000$               100.00% 56.98% 96.05% 24.65% 50.25%

Misc. Revenues 86,500$          86,608$          71,293$            82.32% 100,390$             13,782$               13.73% 84.08% 111.98% 85.91% 54.35%

Transfers from Other Funds 685,000$        685,000$        -$                 0.00% 675,000$             (10,000)$              -1.48% 54.05% 58.40% 3.75% 100.00%

Other Financing Sources 10,000$          755,112$        784,903$          103.95% 790,982$             35,870$               4.53% 189.67% 133.11% 135.99% 299.90%

Fund Balance Appropriated 115,000$        1,063,554$     -$                 0.00% -$                     (1,063,554)$         * -22.04% 0.00% 0.00% -66.11%

20,646,716$   22,446,723$   17,392,457$     77.48% 21,345,263$        (1,101,460)$         -5.16% 80.24% 81.54% 81.26% 77.93%

FYE16 FINANCE REPORT - 2016 May 23 HISTORICAL DATA FOR 

LAST THREE FISCAL YEARS



fye 2016 fye 2016 fye 2016 THREE fye 2015 fye2014 fye 2013

BUDGET BUDGET ACTUAL % of fye 2016 VARIANCE ($) VARIANCE (%) YEAR % of % of % of

(ORIGINAL) (AMENDED) Period 10 / 12 BUDGET PROJECTED FROM BUDGET FROM BUDGET AVERAGE BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET

EXPENDITURES

General Government 3,481,676$     4,297,228$     3,228,971$       75.14% 3,874,765$          422,463$             -10.90% 83.01% 82.43% 81.53% 85.08%

Police 5,708,803$     5,933,950$     4,794,195$       80.79% 5,753,034$          180,916$             -3.14% 80.75% 82.35% 80.62% 79.28%

Fire/EMS 1,909,223$     1,924,495$     1,434,325$       74.53% 1,721,190$          203,305$             -11.81% 76.49% 73.09% 73.05% 83.32%

Public Works 3,697,829$     4,423,280$     3,218,726$       72.77% 3,862,471$          560,809$             -14.52% 69.23% 53.27% 74.18% 80.25%

Sanitation 1,930,775$     1,930,775$     1,399,841$       72.50% 1,900,000$          30,775$               -1.62% 73.69% 73.59% 74.06% 73.44%

Planning and Development 457,356$        457,356$        348,144$          76.12% 417,773$             39,583$               -9.47% 76.16% 73.72% 78.30% 76.46%

Economic Development 25,000$          43,585$          11,353$            26.05% 25,000$               18,585$               -74.34% 36.67% 49.46% 29.75% 30.79%

Parks & Rec / Cultural Arts 1,154,844$     1,154,844$     1,041,691$       90.20% ^ 1,250,029$          (95,185)$              7.61% 81.60% 86.17% 77.44% 81.19%

Debt Service 1,776,296$     1,776,296$     1,221,777$       68.78% 1,776,296$          -$                    0.00% 57.28% 64.81% 53.40% 53.62%

Contingency / Transfers 504,914$        504,914$        421,400$          83.46% 500,000$             4,914$                 -0.98% 98.61% 95.91% 100.28% 99.66%

ENCUMBRANCES -$                -$                107,861$          

20,646,716$   22,446,723$   17,228,283$     76.75% 21,080,558$        1,366,165$          -6.48% 76.92% 74.49% 76.55% 79.71%

-$                -$                164,174$          264,705$             *

* Restricted Fund Balance of $948,554 is covering the PY expenditures that carried into CY



fye 2016 fye 2016 fye 2016 THREE fye 2015 fye2014 fye 2013

TOURISM FUND BUDGET BUDGET ACTUAL % of fye 2016 VARIANCE ($) VARIANCE (%) YEAR % of % of % of

(ORIGINAL) (AMENDED) Period 10 / 12 BUDGET PROJECTED FROM BUDGET FROM BUDGET AVERAGE BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET

REVENUES

Tourism Merchandise -$                -$                898$                 1,000$                 1,000$                 100.00% 56.31% 56.49% 79.34% 33.11%

Occupancy Tax 446,160$        532,560$        412,751$          77.50% 550,334$             17,774$               3.23% 81.28% 82.05% 74.13% 87.67%

Prepared Food & Beverage Tax 842,400$        802,400$        802,033$          99.95% 802,000$             (400)$                   -0.05% 82.89% 51.01% 97.77% 99.91%

Rental Car Tax 136,240$        96,240$          70,579$            73.34% 94,105$               (2,135)$                -2.27% 87.44% 78.20% 96.46% 87.66%

Miscellaneous -$                -$                -$                 -$                     -$                    0.00% 0.00%

Transfer from CIP -$                -$                -$                 -$                     -$                    100.00% 100.00%

Fund Balance Appropriated -$                -$                -$                 -$                     -$                    -31.57% 0.00% -63.14%

1,424,800$     1,431,200$     1,286,261$       89.87% 1,447,440$          16,240$               1.12% 64.52% 69.73% 88.19% 35.64%

fye 2016 fye 2016 fye 2016 THREE fye 2015 fye2014 fye 2013

BUDGET BUDGET ACTUAL % of fye 2016 VARIANCE ($) VARIANCE (%) YEAR % of % of % of

(ORIGINAL) (AMENDED) Period 10 / 12 BUDGET PROJECTED FROM BUDGET FROM BUDGET AVERAGE BUDGET BUDGET BUDGET

EXPENDITURES

Marketing 5,000$            2,000$            6,270$              313.48% 6,400$                 (4,400)$                68.75% 37.32% 22.14% 52.51%

Decorations/Banners/Flags 5,000$            5,000$            3,766$              75.32% 5,000$                 -$                    0.00% 36.67% 0.00% 73.33%

Merchandise 1,000$            1,000$            125$                 12.50% 300$                    700$                    -233.33% 30.38% 6.49% 62.89% 21.76%

Landscaping 5,000$            -$                -$                 -$                     -$                    0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Tourism Projects 45,000$          55,000$          56,859$            103.38% 57,000$               (2,000)$                3.51% 35.15% 23.48% 2.22% 79.77%

SportsPlex 249,200$        249,200$        249,000$          99.92% 249,200$             -$                    0.00% 73.15% 75.17% 44.26% 100.00%

Tourism Grants 60,000$          63,000$          39,000$            61.90% 63,000$               -$                    0.00% 74.17% 74.17%

Fullwood Theater 3,000$            3,000$            2,930$              97.68% 3,000$                 -$                    0.00%

Outen Pottery 55,000$          -$                -$                 -$                     -$                    

Matthews Alive 60,000$          60,000$          60,000$            100.00% 60,000$               -$                    0.00% 164.87% 100.00% 100.00% 294.62%

Historical Society 40,000$          40,000$          32,303$            80.76% 40,000$               -$                    0.00% 79.22% 80.76% 82.82% 74.10%

Arts & Science Council 18,000$          18,000$          18,000$            100.00% 18,000$               -$                    0.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

Other Town Events 18,600$          -$                -$                 -$                     -$                    

Transfer to General Fund 685,000$        685,000$        -$                 0.00% 675,000$             10,000$               -1.48% 34.58% 0.00% 3.73% 100.00%

Transfer to CIP 175,000$        250,000$        250,000$          100.00% 250,000$             -$                    0.00% 101.06% 100.00% 176.00% 27.17%

1,424,800$     1,431,200$     718,254$          50.19% 1,426,900$          4,300$                 -0.30% 57.22% 45.33% 38.48% 87.85%

-$                -$                568,007$          20,540$               



 

 

 

Agreement with Partners for Parks 
      
DATE:   May 17, 2016 
 
FROM:   Corey King, Parks, Recreation & Cultural Resource Director 
 
Background/Issue:   
Parks, Recreation & Cultural Resource staff continually search for alternative sources of funding for park 
projects and programs. Partners for Parks is a great example of a non-profit organization that staff would like to 
opportunity to work with to secure funding.  Partners for Parks has served as advocates for promoting and 
enhancing public parks, recreation and environmental conservation since 1996.  Their goal is to “improve the 
quality of life for citizens of Mecklenburg County and surrounding regions by promoting and enhancing the 
parks, greenways, open spaces, active play and recreational opportunities within the community”. 
 
Hats Off to Parks is an example of an event delivered by Partners for Parks in cooperation with Mecklenburg 
County Parks and Recreation.  Funds raised through this event and others, have funded new playgrounds in 
Park Road Park, Reedy Creek, amenities along Sugar Creek Greenway, fences for dog parks and many other 
park improvements.  Partners for Parks offers a safe place for municipalities to safely raise funds.  An 
advantage for donors is that their contributions are tax deductible.  Citizens are also able to contribute directly 
to a project or program that they are interested in.   
 
Contributions are collected and managed directly by Partners for Parks.  As projects begin and incur costs, 
funds would be distributed from Partners for Parks directly to the vendor.  There are no administrative fees 
associated with any contributions.  All donated funds (100%) are used towards the project or program specified.  
Partners for Parks retains interest gained from donated funds.  Revenue from interest is used to offset expenses 
incurred by Partners for Parks.  Funds would not have a timeline or expiration date, they would remain in the 
assigned account until exhausted by the project.     
 
Proposal/Solution:   
Staff proposes to enter into agreement with Partners for Parks, creating a venue for citizens to donate directly to 
park projects. 
 
Financial Impact: 
The financial impact would be positive for the Town of Matthews.  Donated funds would accumulate and be 
used to partially or completely fund projects identified by the Town. 
 
Related Town Goal:  
Financial Performance: To provide financial resources in a prudent and responsible manner through traditional 
and alternative sources of revenue 
 
Recommended Motion:  
Approval to enter into agreement with Partners for Parks 












	7F1-budget_wrecker.pdf
	SECTION 3:  The purpose of this amendment is to recognize court ordered restitution payments and funds in excess of budgeted revenues for wrecker contract from Williams Wrecker.

	7F2-budget_DARE.pdf
	SECTION 3:  The purpose of this amendment is to recognize donation to the DARE program in excess of budgeted revenues.

	8A-solid_waste_contract.pdf
	Contract Cost Summary 5-18-16.pdf
	Sheet1


	8C-2016_PC_to_dos.pdf
	5-17-16

	9A-finance_report.pdf
	2016.5.23 Board Finance Report (Apr16) Memo
	2016.5.23 Board Finance Report (Apr16)




